Nonsymmetric Difference Whittaker Functions and Double Affine Hecke Algebras

Daniel Orr

A dissertation submitted to the faculty of the University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in the Department of Mathematics.

Chapel Hill 2013

Approved by: Ivan Cherednik Prakash Belkale Shrawan Kumar Lev Rozansky Alexander Varchenko

Abstract

DANIEL ORR: Nonsymmetric Difference Whittaker Functions and Double Affine Hecke Algebras (Under the direction of Ivan Cherednik)

This dissertation is devoted to a new theory of nonsymmetric difference Whittaker functions and the corresponding Toda-Dunkl operators for arbitrary reduced irreducible root systems. The nonsymmetric Whittaker functions are obtained as limits of (global) spherical functions under a variant of a limiting procedure due to Ruijsenaars and Etingof. Under this procedure, the Toda-Dunkl operators are realized as limits of differencereflection Dunkl operators. We give a direct and constructive proof of the existence of these limits. We show that the nonsymmetric Whittaker function solves the eigenvalue problem for Toda-Dunkl operators and admits an explicit expansion in terms of the level-one affine Demazure characters. For Jen

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank the Department of Mathematics at UNC Chapel Hill as a whole for providing a stimulating and supportive environment for my graduate studies and dissertation research. I am particularly grateful to the members of my dissertation committee for their advice and encouragement. I also wish to thank my fellow graduate students, especially Rebecca Glover and Swarnava Mukhopadhyay.

Lastly, my thanks are due to my advisor, Professor Cherednik, for introducing me to this field of research, for his patient guidance, and for his (seemingly infinite) enthusiasm.

Table of Contents

Intr	oduct	ion	1
	0.1.	Origins	2
	0.2.	Perspectives	4
	0.3.	Outline	5
Cha	pter		
1.	Doul	ble affine Hecke algebras	7
	1.1.	Root systems	7
	1.2.	Affine Weyl groups	11
	1.3.	Affine Hecke algebras	18
	1.4.	Double affine Hecke algebras	20
	1.5.	Polynomial representation	21
2.	Nons	symmetric Macdonald polynomials	25
	2.1.	Inner product	25
	2.2.	Orthogonality	26
	2.3.	Intertwiners	28
	2.4.	Limits	30
3.	Sphe	rical and Whittaker functions	36
	3.1.	Gaussian	36
	3.2.	Global spherical function	36
	3.3.	Symmetrization	38
	3.4.	Whittaker limit	39

4.	Nons	symmetric Whittaker function	40
	4.1.	W-spinors	40
	4.2.	Nonsymmetric limiting procedure	42
	4.3.	Calculating the limit	43
	4.4.	Main theorem	44
	4.5.	Symmetrization	46
5.	Toda	-Dunkl operators	48
	5.1.	Preparations	48
	5.2.	Limits of Dunkl operators	52
	5.3.	Remaining operators	58
	5.4.	Symmetrization	60
	5.5.	Examples	61
Refe	erences	5	63

Introduction

This dissertation is devoted to a new theory of nonsymmetric difference Whittaker functions and the corresponding Toda-Dunkl operators for arbitrary reduced irreducible root systems, generalizing the A_1 -case considered in [15, 16, 17]. Our approach is based on a new technique involving W-spinors, which can be thought of as functions $\{f_w\}$ indexed by the elements of the (finite) Weyl group W with the natural action of W on the indices. This technique has important links to the classical harmonic analysis on symmetric spaces and the theory of spherical, Whittaker, and Bessel functions. For instance, W-spinors arise in the study of nonsymmetric or singular symmetric solutions of symmetric systems such as the Quantum Many-Body Problem; see [6, 15, 31].

The theory of nonsymmetric (global) spherical functions from [9] is the starting point of our approach; these functions are denoted by $G(X, \Lambda)$ in Theorem 3.2.1. We introduce the nonsymmetric difference Whittaker function Ω as the limit of G under a nonsymmetric variant of a limiting procedure due to Ruijsenaars [32] and Etingof [18]. The function Ω is a quadratic-type generating function for the nonsymmetric Macdonald polynomials \overline{E}_b (at t = 0) for b in the weight lattice P. Moreover, the values of Ω at $X = q^c$ for $c \in P$ coincide with $\overline{E}_c(\Lambda)$ up to an explicit factor. See Theorem 4.4.1, the main result of this dissertation, and also Proposition 4.3.1.

Symmetric variants of Ω were introduced and studied in [13]. These symmetric Whittaker functions \mathcal{W} solve the (generalized) difference Toda eigenvalue problem and, moreover, they simultaneously generalize the Whittaker functions from the classical harmonic analysis on symmetric spaces [23, 37] and their *p*-adic counterparts from [4]. They are expressed in terms of \overline{E}_b for antidominant *b* only (such \overline{E}_b are *W*-invariant). We show that the function Ω solves the eigenvalue problem for the Toda-Dunkl operators \widehat{Y}_b ($b \in P$), which we introduce as limits of the Dunkl difference-reflection operators. Establishing the existence of the Toda-Dunkl operators is one of the central developments of this dissertation. Proposition 5.2.1 provides a direct and constructive justification of the existence of \widehat{Y}_b via the nonsymmetric Ruijsenaars-Etingof procedure; its proof provides formulas for basic spinor Dunkl operators, including those for the minuscule weights (which are involved even for root systems of type A—see Section 5.5 for some examples).

The nonsymmetric Whittaker function Ω leads an indirect justification of the existence of Toda-Dunkl operators (see the Remark following Theorem 4.4.1). However, this approach is inconvenient for finding explicit formulas and does not clarify the structure of these operators.

Via symmetrization of Ω and \hat{Y}_b , we recover the symmetric Whittaker functions and Toda operators from [13]; see (4.22) and Proposition 5.4.1.

0.1. Origins

In order to motivate our approach, let us consider the case of GL_N in more detail. In this setting, the difference Toda Hamiltonian is the operator

(0.1)
$$H = \sum_{i=1}^{N-1} (1 - X_{i+1} X_i^{-1}) \Gamma_i + \Gamma_N$$

acting on functions F of the variables $X_1, \ldots, X_N \in \mathbb{C}^*$, where Γ_i is the translation operator given by

$$\Gamma_i(F)(X_1,\ldots,X_N) = F(X_1,\ldots,qX_j,\ldots,X_N)$$

and $q \in \mathbb{C}^*$. The operator H is equivalent (by an explicit gauge transformation) to Ruijsenaars' quantum relativistic Toda Hamiltonian modeling a system of N particles on a line with exponential nearest-neighbor interactions [18, 32]. The operator H is a certain limit of the Macdonald difference operator

$$L = \sum_{i=1}^{N} \prod_{j \neq i} \frac{t^{1/2} X_i - t^{-1/2} X_j}{X_i - X_j} \Gamma_i \quad (t \in \mathbb{C}^*)$$

when $t \to 0$. More precisely, before taking the limit one conjugates L as follows. For any $a = (a_1, \ldots, a_N) \in \mathbb{Z}^N = P$, we set

$$X_a = X_1^{a_1} \cdots X_N^{a_N}$$
 and $\Gamma_a = \Gamma_1^{a_1} \cdots \Gamma_N^{a_N}$.

Now let $\rho = (\frac{N-1}{2}, \frac{N-3}{2}, \cdots, -\frac{N-1}{2})$ and consider the operator

(0.2)
$$\boldsymbol{\varkappa}(L) = (X_{k\rho}\,\Gamma_{-k\rho})\,L\,(X_{k\rho}\,\Gamma_{-k\rho})^{-1},$$

where we impose the relation $t = q^k$. (In order for this to make sense, we should require that $k\rho \in \mathbb{Z}^N$; however, the result $\varkappa(L)$, when expressed in terms of q and t, depends neither on this restriction nor on the specific choice of k.) A straightforward calculation then shows that

(0.3)
$$RE(L) := \lim_{t \to 0} \varkappa(L) = H.$$

This limiting procedure is due to Ruijsenaars [32] and Etingof [18].

In [7], Cherednik used double affine Hecke algebras (DAHAs) to realize L (and its analogues for arbitrary root systems) as symmetrizations of *Dunkl operators*. The latter are pairwise commutative difference-reflection operators indexed by $a \in P$; for GL_N , they are denoted Y_a for $a \in \mathbb{Z}^N$. If $\omega_1 = (1, 0, \ldots, 0)$, then one has

$$L = \sum_{a \in W(\omega_1)} Y_{-a},$$

upon the restriction to W-invariant functions. Here $W = S_N$ is the symmetric group.

The symmetric (global) spherical function $F(X, \Lambda)$ from [9] solves the Macdonald eigenvalue problem. In the case of GL_N , the eigenvalue problem reads:

$$L(F(X,\Lambda)) = (\Lambda_1 + \dots + \Lambda_N)F(X,\Lambda),$$

where $\Lambda = (\Lambda_1, \dots, \Lambda_N) \in (\mathbb{C}^*)^N$. In [13], it was shown (for arbitrary root systems) that the limit

(0.4)
$$\mathcal{W}(X,\Lambda) := \lim_{t \to 0} X_{k\rho} \Gamma_{-k\rho}(F(X,\Lambda))$$

exists and solves the corresponding Toda eigenvalue problem.

Correspondingly, the nonsymmetric spherical function $G(X, \Lambda)$ from [9] is a solution to the Dunkl eigenvalue problem:

$$Y_a(G(X,\Lambda)) = \Lambda_a^{-1} G(X,\Lambda) \ (a \in \mathbb{Z}^N),$$

where we define Λ_a as above. The main objective of this dissertation is to extend the limits (0.3) and (0.4) to the nonsymmetric setting (for arbitrary root systems).

0.2. Perspectives

The results of this dissertation suggest the following topics for future research:

Representation theory of nil-DAHA. In our construction of the nonsymmetric Whittaker function Ω and the Toda-Dunkl operators \widehat{Y}_b , a certain degeneration of the DAHA as $t \to 0$ plays a fundamental role. The resulting algebra is called nil-DAHA; see Definition 2.4.2. The function Ω admits an alternate characterization as the kernel of an integral transform between irreducible nil-DAHA modules. The image of this transform, the so-called *spinor-polynomial representation*, is a new addition to the representation theory of DAHA. In the rank-one case, the spinor-polynomial representation was given its proper representation-theoretic interpretation as a (sub-)induced nil-DAHA module in [16]. Extending this description of the spinor-polynomial representation to arbitrary root systems and developing a general classification of induced nil-DAHA modules are interesting problems for future research. In the general representation theory DAHA, the nil-DAHA is expected to play a role analogous to that of crystal bases in the representation theory of quantum groups.

Analytic theory of nonsymmetric Whittaker functions. The study of asymptotic expansions of symmetric (global) Whittaker functions—the analog of Harish-Chandra's expansion of spherical functions on real semisimple Lie groups [24]—was initiated by Cherednik in [13]. More generally, the symmetric (global) spherical functions have been studied from the same point of view in [36]. While convergent expansions are known to exist in the symmetric setting, the exact expansion coefficients are complicated and only indirectly described. The asymptotic theory of nonsymmetric (spherical and Whittaker) functions is expected to lead to new insights in this direction. In addition to their own fundamental importance, the asymptotic expansions of symmetric Whittaker functions are particularly relevant in several of the applications discussed below.

Applications of symmetric Whittaker functions. The symmetric difference Whittaker functions are known to have many applications, including the quantum K-theory of flag varieties [3, 22], the theory of q-Whittaker processes [1], and generalized Rogers-Ramanujan identities related to the representation theory of affine Lie algebras [14]. Furthermore, they exhibit important connections to Whittaker vectors in the representation theory of quantum groups [18, 19, 34]. The works [20, 21] provide an extensive treatment of the GL_N -case, touching upon some of these applications (and more). The theory of nonsymmetric Whittaker functions and Toda-Dunkl operators developed in this dissertation is expected to enrich these directions of research.

0.3. Outline

Let us describe the contents of this dissertation in more detail. In Chapter 1, we gather basic facts about root systems, Weyl groups, and double affine Hecke algebras. Chapter 2 is devoted to the nonsymmetric Macdonald polynomials, their construction using intertwiners, and their behavior under certain limits. The global spherical functions, which extend the nonsymmetric Macdonald polynomials and are essential for the construction of the nonsymmetric difference Whittaker function Ω , are introduced in Chapter 3. In Chapter 4, we formulate our main result and prove the existence of Ω , leading to an indirect proof of the existence of the Toda-Dunkl operators. Finally, in Chapter 5, we provide a direct and constructive proof of the existence of these operators. This proof involves certain combinatorial properties of reduced expressions in the Weyl group and is quite interesting in its own right.

CHAPTER 1

Double affine Hecke algebras

1.1. Root systems

Fix an integer $n \ge 1$. For vectors $x = (x_1, \ldots, x_n)$ and $y = (y_1, \ldots, y_n)$ in \mathbb{R}^n , let $(x, y) = x_1y_1 + \cdots + x_ny_n$ be their dot product. Given $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\}$, let H_α denote the hyperplane in \mathbb{R}^n orthogonal to α . The reflection through H_α can be expressed as

$$s_{\alpha}(x) = x - (x, \alpha^{\vee})\alpha_{\alpha}$$

where $\alpha^{\vee} := 2\alpha/(\alpha, \alpha)$.

A root system in \mathbb{R}^n is a finite subset $R \subset \mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\}$ satisfying the following axioms:

(1.1)
$$R \text{ spans } \mathbb{R}^n$$

(1.2)
$$(\alpha, \beta^{\vee}) \in \mathbb{Z} \text{ for all } \alpha, \beta \in R,$$

(1.3)
$$s_{\alpha}(\beta) \in R \text{ for all } \alpha, \beta \in R$$

Elements of R are called *roots*. Note that $\alpha \in R$ implies that $-\alpha = s_{\alpha}(\alpha) \in R$. We will assume, in addition, that R is *reduced* and *irreducible*. We say that R is reduced if for any $\alpha \in R$, one has $\mathbb{R}\alpha \cap R = \{\pm \alpha\}$. We say that R is irreducible if it is not possible to partition R into two nonempty, mutually orthogonal subsets.

We refer to [2] for the classification of root systems and for proofs of the following basic properties of R.

There are at most two possible lengths of roots in R. When there are two distinct root lengths, we refer to roots as being *short* and *long*; otherwise, all roots are called both short and long.

The Weyl group W is the subgroup of $O(n, \mathbb{R})$ generated by the reflections $\{s_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha \in \mathbb{R}}$.

For any $c \in \mathbb{R}^*$, the set cR is again root system having the same Weyl group as R. Note that the quantity (α, β^{\vee}) is invariant under simultaneous scaling of α and β . We assume that $(\alpha, \alpha) = 2$ for *short* roots α . For any $\alpha \in R$, we set

$$\nu_{\alpha} = (\alpha, \alpha)/2, \quad \nu_R = \{\nu_{\alpha} : \alpha \in R\}.$$

Then ν_R is one of the following sets: $\{1\}, \{1, 2\}, \text{ or } \{1, 3\}.$

A chamber of R is a connected component of $\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \bigcup_{\alpha \in R} H_\alpha$. The Weyl group W acts simply transitively on the set of chambers. The choice of a chamber \mathcal{C} gives rise to a partition of R into disjoint subsets $R = R_+ \cup R_-$, where for any $x \in \mathcal{C}$

$$R_{+} = \{ \alpha \in R : (x, \alpha) > 0 \}, \quad R_{-} = -R_{+}$$

Chambers are in bijection with *bases* of R. The latter are, by definition, subsets $\Delta \subset R$ having the property that each root can be written uniquely as a sum

(1.4)
$$\sum_{\alpha \in \Delta} n_{\alpha} \alpha$$

with either all $n_{\alpha} \geq 0$ or all $n_{\alpha} \leq 0$. Given a chamber \mathcal{C} , determining the partition $R = R_+ \cup R_-$, the associated base Δ is the set of all $\alpha \in R_+$ which cannot be written as $\alpha = \beta + \gamma$ for some $\beta, \gamma \in R_+$. Then R_+ (resp. R_-) consists of all roots represented as sums (1.4) such that $n_{\alpha} \geq 0$ (resp. $n_{\alpha} \leq 0$) for all $\alpha \in \Delta$. A base of R is also a basis of \mathbb{R}^n and therefore any base has cardinality equal to n.

From this point on, we fix a chamber C and the corresponding base Δ . Write $\Delta = \{\alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_n\}$ and set $s_i = s_{\alpha_i}$. The α_i are called *simple roots*, and the s_i simple reflections. The Weyl group W is generated by the simple reflections. In fact, W admits an explicit presentation as a *Coxeter group*—namely, W is generated by s_1, \dots, s_n subject to the defining relations

(1.5)
$$s_i^2 = 1 \ (1 \le i \le n),$$

(1.6)
$$(s_i s_j)^{m_{ij}} = 1 \ (1 \le i \ne j \le n),$$

where $\pi - \pi/m_{ij}$ is the angle between α_i and α_j . Explicitly, $m_{ij} = 2, 3, 4$, or 6 as $(\alpha_i, \alpha_j^{\vee})(\alpha_j, \alpha_i^{\vee}) = 0, 1, 2$, or 3, respectively. The relations (1.6), which are typically referred to as the *braid relations*, can be written as

$$(1.7) s_i s_j s_i \cdots = s_j s_i s_j \cdots,$$

where both sides consist of m_{ij} factors.

In particular, any $w \in W$ can be written as a product

$$(1.8) w = s_{j_1} \cdots s_{j_1}$$

where $j_1, \ldots, j_l \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$. Define the *length* of w, denoted l(w), to be the smallest l for which an expression of the form (1.8) exists. An expression (1.8) having l = l(w) will be called a *reduced expression* for w. The length function on W is independent of the choice of the chamber C, which justifies the notation l(w).

The group W has a unique element w_0 of longest length. This element is also uniquely determined by the condition $w_0(\mathcal{C}) = -\mathcal{C}$. The length of w_0 is the cardinality of R_+ .

The dual root system is defined as $R^{\vee} = \{\alpha^{\vee} : \alpha \in R\}$. One readily verifies that R^{\vee} is a root system in \mathbb{R}^n with base $\{\alpha_1^{\vee}, \cdots, \alpha_n^{\vee}\}$ and the same Weyl group as R. Elements of R^{\vee} are called *coroots*.

The root lattice Q and coroot lattice Q^{\vee} are the (additive) subgroups of \mathbb{R}^n generated by R and R^{\vee} , respectively. Explicitly,

$$Q = \bigoplus_{i=1}^n \mathbb{Z}\alpha_i, \quad Q^{\vee} = \bigoplus_{i=1}^n \mathbb{Z}\alpha_i^{\vee}.$$

Let

$$Q_{\pm} = \bigoplus_{i=1}^{n} \mathbb{Z}_{\pm} \alpha_{i}, \quad Q_{\pm}^{\vee} = \bigoplus_{i=1}^{n} \mathbb{Z}_{\pm} \alpha_{i}^{\vee},$$

where $\mathbb{Z}_{\pm} = \{ m \in \mathbb{Z} : \pm m \ge 0 \}$. We also set $\mathbb{Z}_{>0} = \{ m \in \mathbb{Z} : m > 0 \}$.

The weight lattice P is dual to the coroot lattice Q^{\vee} and the coweight lattice P^{\vee} is dual to the root lattice Q:

$$P = \{ b \in \mathbb{R}^n : (b, \alpha^{\vee}) \in \mathbb{Z}, \forall \alpha \in R \}, \quad P^{\vee} = \{ b \in \mathbb{R}^n : (b, \alpha) \in \mathbb{Z}, \forall \alpha \in R \}.$$

In terms of the fundamental weights $\omega_1, \ldots, \omega_n$ and fundamental coweights $\omega_1^{\vee}, \ldots, \omega_n^{\vee}$ determined by

$$(\omega_i, \alpha_j^{\vee}) = \delta_{ij}, \ (\omega_i^{\vee}, \alpha_j) = \delta_{ij},$$

one has

$$P = \bigoplus_{i=1}^{n} \mathbb{Z}\omega_{i}, \quad P^{\vee} = \bigoplus_{i=1}^{n} \mathbb{Z}\omega_{i}^{\vee}.$$

Let

$$P_{\pm} = \bigoplus_{i=1}^{n} \mathbb{Z}_{\pm} \omega_{i}, \quad P_{\pm}^{\vee} = \bigoplus_{i=1}^{n} \mathbb{Z}_{\pm} \omega_{i}^{\vee}.$$

Elements of P (resp. P^{\vee}) are called *dominant weights* (resp. *dominant coweights*). We refer to elements of P_{-} and P_{-}^{\vee} as *antidominant*. An element $b \in P$ (resp. P^{\vee}) belonging to a chamber (i.e., $(b, \alpha) \neq 0$ for all $\alpha \in R$) is called a *regular (co)weight*.

Let

$$\rho = \sum_{\nu \in \nu_R} \rho_{\nu}, \quad \rho_{\nu} = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\substack{\alpha \in R_+ \\ \nu_{\alpha} = \nu}} \alpha = \sum_{\substack{1 \le i \le n \\ \nu_i = \nu}} \omega_i,$$
$$\rho^{\vee} = \sum_{\nu \in \nu_R} \rho^{\vee}_{\nu}, \quad \rho^{\vee}_{\nu} = \nu^{-1} \rho_{\nu} = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\substack{\alpha \in R_+ \\ \nu_{\alpha} = \nu}} \alpha^{\vee} = \sum_{\substack{1 \le i \le n \\ \nu_i = \nu}} \omega^{\vee}_i.$$

For any $b \in P$, let b_+ (resp. b_-) denote the unique dominant (resp. antidominant) weight in the orbit W(b). For $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^n$, we write $x \leq y$ to mean that $y - x \in Q_+$, and we write x < y if in addition $x \neq y$. For any $b \in P$, one has $b_- \leq b \leq b_+$. We define a partial ordering \leq on P as follows:

(1.9)
$$b \leq c \iff b_- \leq c_- \text{ and if } b_- = c_-, \text{ then } b \leq c.$$

Note that $b_{-} = c_{-}$ means that b, c belong to the same W-orbit. We write $b \prec c$ if $b \preceq c$ and $b \neq c$. Note that \preceq and \leq agree on P_{-} . Within each W-orbit of P, the antidominant weight is minimal with respect to \preceq , and the dominant weight is maximal.

We will also use the *Bruhat ordering* on W, which can be defined as follows. Write $w \to w'$ if there exists some $\alpha \in R$ such that $w = s_{\alpha}w'$ and l(w) > l(w'). Then the Bruhat ordering is the partial ordering \geq generated by these relations. In other words, $w \geq w'$ if there exists a chain $w = w_1 \to w_2 \to \cdots \to w_m = w'$.

1.2. Affine Weyl groups

Denote elements of $\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}$ by $[x, \zeta]$ for $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and $\zeta \in \mathbb{R}$. The *(twisted) affine root* system¹ associated to R is the following subset of $\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}$:

$$R = \{ [\alpha, \nu_{\alpha} j] : \alpha \in R, \ j \in \mathbb{Z} \},\$$

Recall that $\nu_{\alpha} = (\alpha, \alpha)/2$ and $\nu_{\alpha} = 1$ when α is a short root. Elements of \widetilde{R} are called *affine roots*. We extend the dot product on \mathbb{R}^n to $\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}$ trivially:

$$([x, \zeta], [y, \xi]) := (x, y).$$

For any affine root $\widetilde{\alpha} = [\alpha, \nu_{\alpha} j]$, we set $\widetilde{\alpha}^{\vee} = 2\widetilde{\alpha}/(\widetilde{\alpha}, \widetilde{\alpha})$ and $\nu_{\widetilde{\alpha}} = (\widetilde{\alpha}, \widetilde{\alpha})/2 = \nu_{\alpha}$.

For any affine root $\tilde{\alpha} = [\alpha, \nu_{\alpha} j]$, consider the hyperplane

$$H_{\widetilde{\alpha}} := \{ x \in \mathbb{R}^n : (x, \alpha) + \nu_{\alpha} j = 0 \}.$$

¹ These are the real roots of the following affine root systems from [26]:

R	A_n	B_n	C_n	D_n	$E_{6,7,8}$	F_4	G_2
\widetilde{R}	$A_n^{(1)}$	$D_{n+1}^{(2)}$	$A_{2n-1}^{(2)}$	$D_n^{(1)}$	$E_{6,7,8}^{(1)}$	$E_{6}^{(2)}$	$D_4^{(3)}$

We note that $(x, \alpha) + \nu_{\alpha} j = \nu_{\alpha}((x, \alpha^{\vee}) + j)$, so $H_{\tilde{\alpha}}$ is equivalently described by the equation $(x, \alpha^{\vee}) + j = 0$. Let $s_{\tilde{\alpha}}$ denote the reflection in \mathbb{R}^n through the hyperplane $H_{\tilde{\alpha}}$. This reflection is given explicitly by the formula

(1.10)
$$s_{\widetilde{\alpha}}((x)) := x - ((x, \alpha^{\vee}) + j)\alpha = s_{\alpha}(x) - j\alpha.$$

The affine Weyl group \widetilde{W} is the group of affine transformations of \mathbb{R}^n generated by the reflections $\{s_{\widetilde{\alpha}}\}_{\widetilde{\alpha}\in\widetilde{R}}$. Due to (1.10), one has

$$s_{\alpha}s_{\widetilde{\alpha}}=\tau_{-j\alpha},$$

where τ_y for $y \in \mathbb{R}^n$ denotes the translation $\tau_y((x)) = x + y$. One has $\widetilde{W} = W \ltimes Q$, where we identify Q with the subgroup $\{\tau_b : b \in Q\} \subset \widetilde{W}$ and $w\tau_b w^{-1} = \tau_{w(b)}$ for any $w \in W$ and $b \in Q$. We simply write b in place of τ_b from now on.

The affine Weyl group naturally acts on the space of affine linear functions on \mathbb{R}^n , which we identify with $\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}$ as follows. Given any $[y, \zeta] \in \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}$, we form the affine linear function $x \mapsto (x, y) + \zeta$. Under this identification, the action $\widetilde{w}(f)(x) = f(\widetilde{w}^{-1}(x))$ of $\widetilde{w} = wb \in \widetilde{W}$ on an affine linear function f, is given by

(1.11)
$$wb([y, \zeta]) = [w(y), \zeta - (b, x)].$$

This action preserves \widetilde{R} , since

(1.12)
$$wb([\alpha,\nu_{\alpha}j]) = [w(\alpha),\nu_{\alpha}(j-(b,\alpha^{\vee}))].$$

The actions of \widetilde{W} on $\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}$ and \mathbb{R}^n defined above are compatible in the following sense. Define

(1.13)
$$([x,\zeta],[y,\xi]+d) := (x,y) + \zeta.$$

In other words, we enlarge $\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}$ by adding a linearly independent element² d and we extend the pairing by setting ([0, 1], d) = 1. Then one has

(1.14)
$$(\widetilde{w}([x,\zeta]),\widetilde{w}((y))+d) = ([x,\zeta],y+d).$$

Connected components of $\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \bigcup_{\tilde{\alpha} \in \tilde{R}} H_{\tilde{\alpha}}$ are called *alcoves*. The affine Weyl group \widetilde{W} acts simply transitively on the set of alcoves. The *fundamental alcove* \mathcal{A} is determined by the inequalities $0 < (x, \alpha^{\vee}) < 1$ for all $\alpha \in R_+$. The inequalities $(x, \alpha_i^{\vee}) > 0$ for $i = 1, \ldots, n$ and $(x, \vartheta) < 1$ are sufficient to describe \mathcal{A} . Here ϑ is the highest *short* root of R, i.e., the unique maximal short root with respect to the partial ordering \leq . One has $\vartheta^{\vee} = \vartheta$ and ϑ is the highest root in R^{\vee} . One may also characterize ϑ as the unique short root lying in P_+ .

The choice of an alcove determines a disjoint union $\widetilde{R} = \widetilde{R}_+ \cup \widetilde{R}_-$, where for any x in the chosen alcove $\widetilde{R}_+ = \{ [\alpha, \nu_{\alpha} j] : (x, \alpha^{\vee}) + j > 0 \}$ and $\widetilde{R}_- = -\widetilde{R}_+$. From this point on, we choose the fundamental alcove, which gives

(1.15)
$$\widetilde{R}_{+} = \{ [\alpha, \nu_{\alpha} j] : \alpha \in R_{+}, j \ge 0 \text{ or } \alpha \in R_{-}, j > 0 \}, \quad \widetilde{R}_{-} = -\widetilde{R}_{+}.$$

We identify R with the subset $R \times \{0\} \subset \widetilde{R}$.

The base of \widetilde{R} determined by \mathcal{A} consists of the simple roots $\{\alpha_0, \alpha_1, \cdots, \alpha_n\}$, where $\alpha_0 = [-\vartheta, 1]$. Every affine root can be written uniquely as a sum $\widetilde{\alpha} = \sum_{i=0}^n n_i \alpha_i$ for $n_i \in \mathbb{Z}$, and one has $\widetilde{\alpha} \in \widetilde{R}_+$ (resp. $\widetilde{\alpha} \in \widetilde{R}_-$) if and only if all $n_i \ge 0$ (resp. all $n_i \le 0$).

Let $s_0 = s_{\alpha_0}$. The affine Weyl group \widetilde{W} is generated by $\{s_0, s_1, \ldots, s_n\}$ subject to the defining relations

(1.16)
$$s_i^2 = 1 \ (0 \le i \le n),$$

(1.17)
$$(s_i s_j)^{m_{ij}} = 1 \ (0 \le i \ne j \le n),$$

² In the notation of [26], the element d corresponds to Λ_0 and [0, 1] to the imaginary root δ . The affine action $\widetilde{w}((y))$ is the so-called level-one action (modulo δ).

where $m_{ij} = 2, 3, 4$, or 6 as $(\alpha_i, \alpha_j^{\vee})(\alpha_j, \alpha_i^{\vee}) = 0, 1, 2$, or 3, respectively. Thus \widetilde{W} is a Coxeter group, and the Weyl group W is the subgroup of \widetilde{W} generated by $\{s_1, \ldots, s_n\}$.

We define the length $l(\tilde{w})$ as the smallest l for which there exists an expression $\tilde{w} = s_{j_l} \cdots s_{j_1}$ where $j_1, \ldots, j_l \in \{0, \ldots, n\}$. For $\tilde{w} = w \in W$, this definition agrees with the one given in the previous section.

Another important characterization of the length function $l(\tilde{w})$ is the following. One has $l(\tilde{w}) = |\lambda(\tilde{w})|$, where

$$\lambda(\widetilde{w}) := \{ \widetilde{\alpha} \in \widetilde{R}_+ : \widetilde{w}(\alpha) \in \widetilde{R}_- \} = \widetilde{R}_+ \cap \widetilde{w}^{-1}(\widetilde{R}_-).$$

The following refinement of $\lambda(\tilde{w})$ gives more information:

(1.18)
$$\lambda(\widetilde{w}) = \bigcup_{\nu \in \nu_R} \lambda_{\nu}(\widetilde{w}), \text{ where } \lambda_{\nu}(\widetilde{w}) = \{ \alpha \in \lambda(\widetilde{w}) : \nu_{\alpha} = \nu \}.$$

Define $l_{\nu}(\widetilde{w}) = |\lambda_{\nu}(\widetilde{w})|$. Then $l_{\nu}(\widetilde{w})$ is equal to the number of s_j with $\nu_{\alpha_j} = \nu$ in any reduced expression for \widetilde{w} .

Consider the larger group $\widehat{W} = W \ltimes P$, which is called the *extended affine Weyl group*. The affine Weyl group \widetilde{W} is a normal subgroup of \widehat{W} , and one has a natural isomorphism $\widehat{W}/\widetilde{W} \cong P/Q$. The affine action of \widetilde{W} on \mathbb{R}^n extends to \widehat{W} via the translations $\tau_b((x)) = x + b$ for $b \in P$, and \widehat{W} acts on $\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}$ preserving \widetilde{R} by (1.11). The compatibility condition (1.14) continues to hold for these actions of \widehat{W} .

We extend the length function to \widehat{W} by defining $\lambda_{\nu}(\widehat{w}) = \widetilde{R}_{+} \cap \widehat{w}^{-1}(\widetilde{R}_{-}), \ \lambda(\widehat{w}) = \cup_{\nu \in \nu_{R}} \lambda_{\nu}(\widehat{w}), \ l_{\nu}(\widehat{w}) = |\lambda_{\nu}(\widehat{w})|, \text{ and } l(\widehat{w}) = |\lambda(\widehat{w})| \text{ for any } \widehat{w} \in \widehat{W}.$

In contrast to \widetilde{W} , the group \widehat{W} is not a Coxeter group; it has elements of length zero other than the identity element id. Let Π denote the subgroup of \widehat{W} consisting of all length zero elements. The group Π can also be characterized as the stabilizer in \widehat{W} of the fundamental alcove. Hence the composition $\Pi \hookrightarrow \widehat{W} \to \widehat{W}/\widetilde{W}$ gives rise to an isomorphism $\Pi \cong \widehat{W}/\widetilde{W}$, since \widetilde{W} acts simply transitively on the set of alcoves.

Therefore, one has isomorphisms $\Pi \cong \widehat{W}/\widetilde{W} \cong P/Q$. The nonzero elements in P/Qare in bijection with the fundamental weights ω_r satisfying $(\omega_r, \vartheta) = 1$, which are the minuscule fundamental weights. Note that $(\omega_r, \vartheta) = 1$ is equivalent to $\omega_r \in \mathcal{A}$. Let

$$O' := \{r : (\omega_r, \vartheta) = 1\}, \quad O := O' \cup \{0\}.$$

Under the composite isomorphism $P/Q \cong \Pi$, the cos t $\omega_r + Q$ corresponds to the element $\pi_r \in \widehat{W}$ defined by

$$\pi_r := \omega_r u_r^{-1},$$

where u_r the unique shortest element in W such that $u_r(\omega_r) \in P_-$. Explicitly, $u_r = w_0 w_0^{\omega_r}$, where $w_0^{\omega_r}$ is the unique longest element in the stabilizer of ω_r in W.

Since Π preserves the fundamental alcove \mathcal{A} , it permutes the simple roots $\{\alpha_0, \ldots, \alpha_n\}$, and consequently

(1.19)
$$\pi_r s_i \pi_r^{-1} = s_j, \text{ where } \pi_r(\alpha_i) = \alpha_j.$$

We note that for $r \in O$, one has $\pi_r(\alpha_0) = \alpha_r$ and $\pi_r^{-1} = \pi_{r^*}, u_r^{-1} = u_{r^*}$, where r^* is determined from the relation $-w_0(\alpha_r) = \alpha_{r^*}$.

Any $\widehat{w} \in \widehat{W}$ can be written uniquely as $\widehat{w} = \pi_r \widetilde{w}$, where $r \in O$ and $\widetilde{w} \in \widetilde{W}$. One has $l(\widehat{w}) = l(\widetilde{w})$. We call $\widehat{w} = \pi_r s_{j_l} \cdots s_{j_1}$ a reduced expression if and only $l = l(\widetilde{w}) = l(\widehat{w})$.

Given any $\widehat{w} = \pi_r \widetilde{w} \in \widehat{W}$ and any reduced expression $\widetilde{w} = s_{j_l} \cdots s_{j_1} \in \widetilde{W}$, one obtains an ordering of the λ -set:

(1.20)
$$\lambda(\widehat{w}) = \{ \widetilde{\alpha}^1 = \alpha_{j_1}, \ \widetilde{\alpha}^2 = s_{j_1}(\alpha_{j_2}), \ \dots, \ \widetilde{\alpha}^l = \widetilde{w}^{-1}s_{j_l}(\alpha_{j_l}) \}.$$

We will call (1.20) the λ -sequence associated with the given reduced expression for \widehat{w} . Such sequences are exactly those in \widetilde{R}_+ satisfying properties (i, ii) of the following lemma.

LEMMA 1.2.1 ([12]). Given $\widehat{w} \in \widehat{W}$ and a reduced expression $\widehat{w} = \pi_r s_{j_l} \cdots s_{j_1}$, form the λ -sequence using (1.20).

(i) If $\widetilde{\alpha} = \widetilde{\alpha}^q + \widetilde{\alpha}^r \in \widetilde{R}_+$, then $\widetilde{\alpha} = \widetilde{\alpha}^p$ for some p between q and r. The same holds if $\widetilde{\alpha} = c_1 \widetilde{\alpha}^q + c_2 \widetilde{\alpha}^r \in \widetilde{R}_+$ for positive rational c_1, c_2 .

(ii) If $\lambda(\widehat{w}) \ni \widetilde{\alpha} = \widetilde{\beta} + \widetilde{\gamma}$ for $\widetilde{\beta}, \widetilde{\gamma} \in \widetilde{R}_+ \cup [0, \mathbb{Z}_+]$, then at least one of $\widetilde{\beta}, \widetilde{\gamma}$ belongs to $\lambda(\widehat{w})$ and exactly one of $\widetilde{\beta}, \widetilde{\gamma}$ comes before $\widetilde{\alpha}$ in $\lambda(\widehat{w})$.

For arbitrary $b \in P$, we set $\pi_b := bu_b^{-1} \in \widehat{W}$, where u_b is defined to be the unique shortest element of W satisfying $u_b(b) = b_-$. Thus $\pi_{\omega_r} = \pi_r$ and $u_{\omega_r} = u_r$ for $r \in O'$. The element π_b can be characterized as the unique minimum length representative of the coset of b in $\widehat{W}/\widetilde{W}$.

LEMMA 1.2.2. One has the following explicit descriptions of λ -sets:

(1.21)
$$\lambda(b) = \left\{ \begin{bmatrix} \alpha, \nu_{\alpha} j \end{bmatrix} : \begin{array}{ll} 0 \le j < (b, \alpha^{\vee}) & \text{if } \alpha \in R_+ \\ 0 < j \le (b, \alpha^{\vee}) & \text{if } \alpha \in R_- \end{array} \right\},$$

(1.22)
$$\lambda(\pi_b) = \left\{ \begin{bmatrix} \alpha, \nu_{\alpha} j \end{bmatrix} : \alpha \in R_- \text{ and } \begin{bmatrix} 0 < j < (b_-, \alpha^{\vee}) & \text{if } u_b^{-1}(\alpha) \in R_+ \\ 0 < j \le (b_-, \alpha^{\vee}) & \text{if } u_b^{-1}(\alpha) \in R_- \end{bmatrix} \right\},$$

(1.23)
$$\lambda(u_b) = \{ \alpha \in R_+ : (b, \alpha) > 0 \}.$$

PROOF. Using (1.12), it is straightforward to verify (1.21) and (1.22). For a proof of (1.23), see [30, (2.4.4)].

Using (1.21), one sees that $l_{\nu}(b) = l_{\nu}(w(b))$ for any $w \in W$ and $b \in P$. Hence

(1.24)
$$l_{\nu}(b) = l_{\nu}(b_{+}) = 2(b_{+}, \rho_{\nu}^{\vee}).$$

We will need some further properties of the reflections $s_{\tilde{\alpha}}$ and their λ -sequences.

LEMMA 1.2.3. Let $\widetilde{\alpha} \in \widetilde{R}_+$.

(i) If $\widetilde{\beta} \in \lambda(s_{\widetilde{\alpha}}) \setminus {\widetilde{\alpha}}$, then $\widetilde{\beta}' = -s_{\widetilde{\alpha}}(\widetilde{\beta})$ belongs to $\lambda(s_{\widetilde{\alpha}})$ and $\widetilde{\alpha}$ lies between $\widetilde{\beta}$ and $\widetilde{\beta}'$ in any ordering of $\lambda(s_{\widetilde{\alpha}})$ via (1.20).

(ii) There exists a reduced expression of the form

(1.25)
$$s_{\widetilde{\alpha}} = s_{j_1} \cdots s_{j_p} s_m s_{j_p} \cdots s_{j_1}, \quad where \quad 0 \le j_1, \dots, j_p, m \le n,$$

and $j_1, \ldots, j_p, m \ge 1$ if $\widetilde{\alpha} = \alpha \in R_+$.

(iii) Construct the λ -sequence $\lambda(s_{\widetilde{\alpha}})$ using (1.20) and a reduced expression of the form (1.25). Then one has $-s_{\widetilde{\alpha}}(\widetilde{\alpha}^i) = \widetilde{\alpha}^{l+1-i}$ for any $1 \leq i \leq l = l(s_{\widetilde{\alpha}})$. In particular, $\widetilde{\alpha} = \widetilde{\alpha}^{p+1}$.

PROOF. (i) Clearly, $\tilde{\beta}' \in \lambda(s_{\tilde{\alpha}})$ and $\tilde{\beta} + \tilde{\beta}'$ is a positive integer multiple of $\tilde{\alpha}$. Hence Lemma 1.2.1(*ii*) gives the claim.

(*ii*) We argue by induction of $l(s_{\tilde{\alpha}})$, which must be odd. The claim is trivial when $l(s_{\tilde{\alpha}}) = 1$. If $l(s_{\tilde{\alpha}}) \geq 3$, find some α_i $(0 \leq i \leq n)$ such that $l(s_{\tilde{\alpha}}s_i) = l(s_is_{\tilde{\alpha}}) < l(s_{\tilde{\alpha}})$. Then $s_{\tilde{\alpha}}(\alpha_i) \in \widetilde{R}_-$ and $s_{\tilde{\alpha}}(\alpha_i) \neq -\alpha_i$. Hence $s_is_{\tilde{\alpha}}(\alpha_i) < 0$ and consequently $l(s_is_{\tilde{\alpha}}s_i) < l(s_is_{\tilde{\alpha}}) < l(s_{\tilde{\alpha}})$. By induction $s_is_{\tilde{\alpha}}s_i = s_{s_i(\tilde{\alpha})}$ has a reduced expression of the form (1.25). We multiply both sides of this expression by s_i to complete the argument.

(iii) This is immediate from (1.20).

Finally, we need a formula for the length $l_{\nu}(s_{\alpha})$ of non-affine reflections.

LEMMA 1.2.4. Let $\alpha \in R_+$ and

$$\delta_{\alpha,\nu} = \delta_{\nu_{\alpha},\nu}, \ \eta_{\alpha,\nu} = \begin{cases} \nu & \text{if } \nu_{\alpha} = 1 = \nu_{\text{sht}} \ and \ \nu = \nu_{\text{lng}}, \\ 1 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

Then

(1.26)
$$l_{\nu}(s_{\alpha}) = 2\frac{(\alpha, \rho_{\nu})}{\nu_{\alpha}\eta_{\alpha,\nu}} - \delta_{\alpha,\nu}$$

More explicitly, one has $l_{\nu}(s_{\alpha}) = 2(\alpha^{\vee}, \rho_{\nu}) - \delta_{\alpha,\nu}$ for long α and $l_{\nu}(s_{\alpha}) = 2(\alpha, \rho_{\nu}^{\vee}) - \delta_{\alpha,\nu}$ for short α .

PROOF. We use the formula

(1.27)
$$\rho_{\nu} - w(\rho_{\nu}) = \sum_{\beta \in \lambda_{\nu}(w)} \beta.$$

as follows: $2(\rho_{\nu}, \alpha^{\vee}) = (\rho_{\nu} - s_{\alpha}(\rho_{\nu}), \alpha^{\vee}) = \delta_{\alpha,\nu} + \sum_{\beta \in \lambda_{\nu}(s_{\alpha})} \eta_{\alpha,\beta} = \delta_{\alpha,\nu} + \eta_{\alpha,\nu} l_{\nu}(s_{\alpha}).$

1.3. Affine Hecke algebras

Let $\{t_{\alpha}^{1/2}\}_{\alpha \in R}$ be a family of indeterminates satisfying $t_{w(\alpha)}^{1/2} = t_{\alpha}^{1/2}$ for all $\alpha \in R$ and $w \in W$. We understand $t_{\alpha}^{1/2}$ as a (formal) fractional power of t_{α} , e.g., $(t_{\alpha}^{1/2})^2 = t_{\alpha}$. Let \mathbb{Q}_t be the field of rational functions in the indeterminates $\{t_{\alpha}^{1/2}\}_{\alpha \in R}$. We write $t_{\alpha}^{1/2} = t_{\alpha}^{1/2}$ for $\widetilde{\alpha} = [\alpha, \nu_{\alpha} j]$ and $t_i^{1/2} = t_{\alpha_i}^{1/2}$ for $i = 0, \ldots, n$.

The affine Hecke algebra $\widetilde{\mathcal{H}}$ is the algebra generated over \mathbb{Q}_t by $\{T_0, T_1, \ldots, T_n\}$ subject to the relations

(1.28)
$$(T_i - t_i^{1/2})(T_i + t_i^{-1/2}) = 0 \quad (i = 0, \cdots, n),$$

(1.29)
$$T_i T_j T_i \cdots = T_j T_i T_j \cdots \quad (0 \le i \ne j \le n),$$

where the braid relations (1.29) match those from \widetilde{W} , i.e., they contain exactly m_{ij} factors on each side. We note that if the parameters $t_i^{1/2}$ are specialized to $t_i^{1/2} = 1$ for all $i = 0, \ldots, n$, then $\widetilde{\mathcal{H}}$ can be naturally identified with the group algebra $\mathbb{Q}[\widetilde{W}]$.

Given a reduced expression $\widetilde{w} = s_{j_{\ell}} \cdots s_{j_1} \in \widetilde{W}$, define $T_{\widetilde{w}} := T_{j_{\ell}} \cdots T_{j_1}$. Since the T_i satisfy the same braid relations as the s_i , the definition of $T_{\widetilde{w}}$ is independent of the reduced decomposition for \widetilde{w} (see, e.g., [2, Chapter IV, §1, Proposition 5]). The elements $T_{\widetilde{w}}$ form a basis for $\widetilde{\mathcal{H}}$ over \mathbb{Q}_t .

Corresponding to \widehat{W} , we define the *extended affine Hecke algebra* $\widehat{\mathcal{H}}$ by adjoining the group Π to $\widetilde{\mathcal{H}}$ with the additional relations

(1.30)
$$\pi_r T_i \pi_r^{-1} = T_j$$
, where $\pi_r(\alpha_i) = \alpha_j \ (r \in O, \ 0 \le i \le n).$

More precisely, $\widehat{\mathcal{H}}$ is defined as the tensor product $\widehat{\mathcal{H}} = \mathbb{Q}_t[\Pi] \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_t} \widetilde{\mathcal{H}}$ with the multiplication between the tensor factors determined by the relations (1.30); this algebra is commonly referred to as the *smash product* of Π and $\widetilde{\mathcal{H}}$.

Given a reduced expression $\widehat{w} = \pi_r s_{j_\ell} \cdots s_{j_1} \in \widehat{W}$, define $T_{\widehat{w}} := \pi_r T_{j_\ell} \cdots T_{j_1}$, which again does not depend on the reduced expression for \widehat{w} . The elements $T_{\widehat{w}}$ form a basis for $\widehat{\mathcal{H}}$ and satisfy

(1.31)
$$T_{\widehat{v}} T_{\widehat{w}} = T_{\widehat{v}\widehat{w}}, \text{ provided } \ell(\widehat{v}\widehat{w}) = \ell(\widehat{v}) + \ell(\widehat{w}).$$

In particular, for $b, c \in P_+$ or $b, c \in P_-$, one has $T_bT_c = T_{b+c}$ and hence T_b and T_c commute; here we use (1.24).

We define elements Y_b $(b \in P)$ in $\widehat{\mathcal{H}}$ as follows. Any $b \in P$ can be expressed as $b = b_1 - b_2$ for $b_1, b_2 \in P_+$. Define $Y_b := T_{b_1}T_{b_2}^{-1}$ for any such expression; it is easy to see that Y_b is independent of the choice of b_1, b_2 . In particular, $Y_b = T_b$ whenever $b \in P_+$. The $\{Y_b : b \in P\}$ generate a commutative subalgebra naturally isomorphic to the group algebra $\mathbb{Q}_t[P]$; denote this subalgebra by $\mathbb{Q}_t[Y]$.

One has the relations (see [28]):

(1.32)
$$T_i Y_b = Y_{s_i(b)} T_i + (t_i^{1/2} - t_i^{-1/2}) \frac{Y_{s_i(b)} - Y_b}{Y_{-\alpha_i} - 1}$$
, for $i = 1, \dots, n$ and $b \in P$

It is easy to see that the quotient $(Y_{s_i(b)} - Y_b)/(Y_{-\alpha_i} - 1)$ belongs to $\mathbb{Q}_t[Y]$. Particular cases of (1.32) include:

(1.33)
$$T_i Y_b = Y_b T_i \text{ if } (b, \alpha_i^{\vee}) = 0 \text{ and } i > 0,$$

(1.34) $T_i^{-1}Y_bT_i^{-1} = Y_{s_i(b)}$ if $(b, \alpha_i^{\vee}) = 1$ and i > 0.

PROPOSITION 1.3.1 ([28]). The sets

$$\{Y_bT_w : b \in P, w \in W\}$$
 and $\{T_wY_b : b \in P, w \in W\}$

are bases of $\widehat{\mathcal{H}}$.

The Y_b provide a convenient description of the center of $\widehat{\mathcal{H}}$:

PROPOSITION 1.3.2 ([28]). The center of $\widehat{\mathcal{H}}$ is $\mathbb{Q}_t[Y]^W$, where we let $w(Y_b) = Y_{w(b)}$ for $w \in W$ and $b \in P$. For any $b \in P$ and a reduced expression $b = \pi_r s_{j_l} \cdots s_{j_1}$, one has $Y_b = \pi_r T_{j_l}^{\epsilon_l} \cdots T_{j_1}^{\epsilon_1}$, where

(1.35)
$$\epsilon_p = \begin{cases} +1 & \text{if } \alpha^p > 0, \\ -1 & \text{if } \alpha^p < 0. \end{cases}$$

and $\widetilde{\alpha}^p = [\alpha^p, \nu_{\alpha^p} j]$ are from (1.20); see, e.g., [**30**, (3.2.10)] for a proof of this fact. The total number of factors $T_j^{\pm 1}$ with $\nu_j = \nu$ in this product is $l_{\nu}(b) = 2(b_+, \rho_{\nu}^{\vee})$.

1.4. Double affine Hecke algebras

Let $\widehat{\mathcal{H}}$ be the extended affine Hecke algebra defined in the previous section. From now on, we denote $\widehat{\mathcal{H}}$ by \mathcal{H}_Y .

Let $q^{1/2m}$ be an indeterminate, where m is the least positive integer with the property that $m(P, P) \subset \mathbb{Z}$, and let $\mathbb{Q}_{q,t}$ be the field of rational functions in the indeterminates $q^{1/2m}$ and $\{t_{\alpha}^{1/2}\}_{\alpha \in R}$.

It is convenient to introduce additional parameters $\{k_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha \in R}$, where $k_{w(\alpha)} = k_{\alpha}$ for all $\alpha \in R$ and $w \in W$, and to impose the relation

$$t_{\alpha} = q_{\alpha}^{k_{\alpha}}.$$

As above, we write $k_{\nu} = k_{\alpha}$ provided $\nu = \nu_{\alpha}$. We also set

(1.36)
$$\rho_k = \sum_{\nu \in \nu_R} k_\nu \rho_\nu$$

Thus

$$q^{(\rho_k,b)} = q^{(\sum_{\nu} k_{\nu} \rho_{\nu},b)} = \prod_{\nu} t_{\nu}^{(\rho_{\nu}^{\vee},b)}.$$

For any ring A, let A[X] be the group algebra of P over A spanned by elements $\{X_b : b \in P\}$ satisfying the relations

$$X_a X_b = X_{a+b} \ (a, b \in P).$$

More generally, for any $\tilde{b} = [b, j]$ where $b \in P$ and $j \in \mathbb{Z}$, we set $X_{\tilde{b}} = q^j X_b$. We let \widehat{W} act on A[X] by

$$\widehat{w}(X_b) = X_{\widehat{w}(b)},$$

where we use the action of \widehat{W} on $\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}$ from (1.11), treating b as [b, 0].

DEFINITION 1.4.1. The double affine Hecke algebra \mathcal{H} is the $\mathbb{Q}_{q,t}$ -algebra generated by \mathcal{H}_Y and $\mathbb{Q}_{q,t}[X]$ subject to the following additional relations:

(1.37)
$$T_i X_b = X_{s_i(b)} T_i + (t_i^{1/2} - t_i^{-1/2}) \frac{X_{s_i(b)} - X_b}{X_{\alpha_i} - 1} \quad (i \ge 0, \ b \in P),$$

(1.38)
$$\pi_r X_b \pi_r^{-1} = X_{\pi_r(b)} \quad (r \in O, \ b \in P).$$

PROPOSITION 1.4.2 ([7]). The monomials $\{Y_a T_w X_b : w \in W, a, b \in P\}$ form a basis for \mathcal{H} over $\mathbb{Q}_{q,t}$.

There exists a unique $\mathbb{Q}_{q,t}$ -linear anti-involution φ of \mathcal{H} satisfying:

(1.39)
$$\varphi: T_i \mapsto T_i \ (1 \le i \le n), \ X_b \mapsto Y_{-b}, \ Y_b \mapsto X_{-b}$$

See [5]. We call φ the *duality anti-involution*. For $H \in \mathcal{H}$, we often write $H^{\varphi} := \varphi(H)$. Using $Y_{\vartheta} = T_0 T_{s_{\vartheta}}$ and $Y_{\omega_r} = \pi_r T_{u_r}$, one finds that

(1.40)
$$\varphi(T_0) = T_{s_\vartheta}^{-1} X_\vartheta^{-1}, \quad \varphi(\pi_r) = T_{u_r^{-1}}^{-1} X_{\omega_r}^{-1} = X_{\omega_{r^*}} T_{u_r} = \varphi(\pi_{r^*}^{-1}).$$

1.5. Polynomial representation

The polynomial representation of \mathcal{H} is the induced module

$$\mathcal{V} := \operatorname{Ind}_{\mathcal{H}_Y}^{\mathcal{H}}(\mathbb{Q}_{q,t}) = \mathcal{H} \otimes_{\mathcal{H}_Y} \mathbb{Q}_{q,t},$$

where $\mathbb{Q}_{q,t}$ carries the action of \mathcal{H}_Y defined by $T_i(1) = t_i^{1/2}$ $(i \ge 0)$ and $\pi_r(1) = 1$ $(r \in O)$.

Proposition 1.4.2 gives rise to an isomorphism $\mathcal{V} \cong \mathbb{Q}_{q,t}[X]$ of $\mathbb{Q}_{q,t}$ -vector spaces. Under this identification, elements of \mathcal{H} act by *difference-reflection operators*, which are by definition operators of the form

(1.41)
$$\sum_{w \in W, b \in P} g_{b,w} \Gamma_b w, \quad g_{b,w} \in \mathbb{Q}_{q,t}(X).$$

Here $\mathbb{Q}_{q,t}(X)$ is the field of rational functions in the X_b $(b \in P)$, all but finitely many $g_{b,w}$ are zero, and Γ_b $(b \in P)$ are the operators

(1.42)
$$\Gamma_b(X_c) = q^{(b,c)} X_c.$$

We observe that the action of Γ_{-b} coincides with that of $b \in \widehat{W}$.

Let us permanently identify $\mathcal{V} \cong \mathbb{Q}_{q,t}[X]$. We now describe the action of \mathcal{H} in \mathcal{V} explicitly. For any $H \in \mathcal{H}$, we continue to denote by H the corresponding endomorphism of \mathcal{V} .

Due to the relation (1.37), the action of T_i $(i \ge 0)$ is given by the *Demazure-Lusztig* operator:

$$T_i = t_i^{1/2} s_i + \frac{t_i^{1/2} - t_i^{-1/2}}{X_{\alpha_i} - 1} (s_i - 1).$$

The action of π_r $(r \in O)$ is given by $\pi_r = \Gamma_{-\omega_r} u_r^{-1}$, and the X_b $(b \in P)$ act by multiplication operators.

The Y_b $(b \in P)$ act by the *difference Dunkl operators*. One can describe these operators explicitly as follows. Let $b = \pi_r s_{j_1} \cdots s_{j_1}$ be a reduced decomposition and recall the definition of ϵ_p from (1.35). Then

(1.43)
$$Y_b = \pi_r T_{j_l}^{\epsilon_l} \cdots T_{j_1}^{\epsilon_1} = \Gamma_{-b} \, G_{\widetilde{\alpha}^l}^{\operatorname{sgn}(\epsilon_l)} \cdots G_{\widetilde{\alpha}^1}^{\operatorname{sgn}(\epsilon_1)},$$

where $sgn(\pm 1) = \pm$ and

$$(1.44) G_{\widetilde{\alpha}}^{+} = t_{\widetilde{\alpha}}^{1/2} + \frac{t_{\widetilde{\alpha}}^{1/2} - t_{\widetilde{\alpha}}^{-1/2}}{X_{\widetilde{\alpha}}^{-1} - 1} (1 - s_{\widetilde{\alpha}}) = t_{\widetilde{\alpha}}^{-1/2} (f_{\widetilde{\alpha}} + g_{\widetilde{\alpha}} s_{\widetilde{\alpha}}),$$
where $f_{\widetilde{\alpha}} = \frac{t_{\widetilde{\alpha}} X_{\widetilde{\alpha}}^{-1} - 1}{X_{\widetilde{\alpha}}^{-1} - 1}, \quad g_{\widetilde{\alpha}} = \frac{t_{\widetilde{\alpha}} - 1}{1 - X_{\widetilde{\alpha}}^{-1}};$

$$(1.45) G_{\widetilde{\alpha}}^{-} = t_{\widetilde{\alpha}}^{-1/2} + \frac{t_{\widetilde{\alpha}}^{1/2} - t_{\widetilde{\alpha}}^{-1/2}}{1 - X_{\widetilde{\alpha}}} (1 - s_{\widetilde{\alpha}}) = t_{\widetilde{\alpha}}^{-1/2} (f_{\widetilde{\alpha}} - s_{\widetilde{\alpha}} g_{\widetilde{\alpha}}).$$

We note that

$$G_{\alpha_i}^+ = s_i T_i, \quad G_{-\alpha_i}^+ = T_i s_i, \quad G_{\alpha_i}^- = s_i T_i^{-1}, \text{ and } G_{-\alpha_i}^- = T_i^{-1} s_i.$$

We also set $\ddot{G}^{\pm}_{\widetilde{\alpha}} := t^{1/2}_{\widetilde{\alpha}} G^{\pm}_{\widetilde{\alpha}}$, so that

(1.46)
$$\ddot{Y}_b := q^{(b_+,\rho_k)} Y_b = \Gamma_{-b} \, \ddot{G}^{\operatorname{sgn}(\epsilon_l)}_{\widetilde{\alpha}^l} \cdots \ddot{G}^{\operatorname{sgn}(\epsilon_1)}_{\widetilde{\alpha}^1}.$$

Let \mathcal{D} denote the algebra of all difference-reflection operators (1.41). Its defining relations are as follows:

$$q^{(a,b)}X_a\Gamma_b = \Gamma_b X_a, \ wX_a = X_{w(a)}w, \ w\Gamma_b = \Gamma_{w(b)}w, \ \text{ for } \ w \in W, \ a, b \in P.$$

By difference operators we mean elements of the subalgebra of \mathcal{D} generated by $\mathbb{Q}_{q,t}(X)$ and Γ_b $(b \in P)$. There is a natural linear map

(1.47)
$$\operatorname{Red} : \sum_{w \in W, b \in P} g_{b,w}(X) \, \Gamma_b \, w \mapsto \sum_{w \in W, b \in P} g_{b,w} \, \Gamma_b,$$

sending difference-reflection operators to difference operators. Clearly, Red is *not* a homomorphism of algebras.

For $f \in \mathbb{Q}_{q,t}[X]^W$, let

$$\mathcal{L}_f := f(Y_{\omega_1}, \dots, Y_{\omega_n}) = \sum_{w \in W, b \in P} g_{b,w} \Gamma_b w, \quad g_{b,w} \in \mathbb{Q}_{q,t}(X),$$

(1.48)
$$L_f := \operatorname{Red}(\mathcal{L}_f) = \sum_{w \in W, b \in P} g_{b,w} \Gamma_b.$$

By Proposition 1.3.2, f(Y) is central in \mathcal{H}_Y . Hence \mathcal{L}_f and L_f preserve \mathcal{V}^W and coincide upon the restriction to this space. Moreover, the L_f are W-invariant difference operators, i.e., $wL_f w^{-1} = L_f$ for any $w \in W$. For $a \in P_+$, we define $\mathcal{L}_a := \mathcal{L}_f$ and $L_a := L_f$ for $f = \sum_{w \in W/W_a} X_{-w(a)}$, where W_a is the stabilizer of a in W.

CHAPTER 2

Nonsymmetric Macdonald polynomials

Recall that $X_{[b,j]} = q^j X_b$, for any $b \in P$ and $j \in \mathbb{Z}$. We also set $X_b(q^x) := q^{(b,x)}$ and $Y_{[b,j]} := q^{-j} Y_b$, so that $Y_{[b,j]}^{-1} = \varphi(X_{[b,j]})$.

2.1. Inner product

Let

(2.1)
$$\mu = \mu(X) := \prod_{\widetilde{\alpha} \in \widetilde{R}_+} \frac{1 - X_{\widetilde{\alpha}}}{1 - t_{\widetilde{\alpha}} X_{\widetilde{\alpha}}}$$

Using the identity

$$(1 - t_{\widetilde{\alpha}} X_{\widetilde{\alpha}})^{-1} = 1 + t_{\widetilde{\alpha}} X_{\widetilde{\alpha}} + t_{\widetilde{\alpha}}^2 X_{2\widetilde{\alpha}} + \cdots,$$

we expand μ as a formal Laurent series in the variables X_{α_i} (i = 1, ..., n) with coefficients in the ring $\mathbb{Z}[t_{\nu}][[q]]$. We extend the action of \widehat{W} on $\mathbb{Q}_{q,t}[X]$ to Laurent series

(2.2)
$$f = \sum_{b \in P} c_b X_b, \text{ where } c_b \in \mathbb{Q}[t_\nu][[q]][q^{-1}].$$

by setting $\widehat{w}(f) = \sum_{b \in P} c_b X_{\widehat{w}(b)}$.

For any Laurent series f of the form (2.2) (with coefficients in any ring), let $\langle f \rangle := c_0$ be the constant term of f. Clearly, $\langle \mu \rangle$ is invertible in $\mathbb{Q}[t_{\nu}][[q]]$.

Let $\mu_{\circ} = \mu/\langle \mu \rangle$. Then μ_{\circ} has coefficients in $\mathbb{Q}(q, t_{\nu})$, the field of rational functions in q and t_{ν} ($\nu \in \nu_R$); see, e.g., [**30**, (5.2.10)] for a proof of this fact.

Let $*: \mathcal{V} \to \mathcal{V}$ be the Q-linear involution defined by

$$X_b^* = X_{-b}, \ (q^{1/2m})^* = q^{-1/2m}, \ (t_\nu^{1/2})^* = t_\nu^{-1/2},$$

Then one has $\mu_{\circ}^* = \mu_{\circ}$ (where we extend * to Laurent series as above), while this does not hold for μ .

For $f, g \in \mathcal{V}$, we define the inner product

$$\langle f, g \rangle = \langle f g^* \mu_{\circ} \rangle \in \mathbb{Q}_{q,t}.$$

Clearly, $\langle f, g \rangle$ is linear in f, *-linear in g, and satisfies $\langle f, g \rangle = \langle g, f \rangle^*$. We observe that if $f, g \in \mathbb{Q}(q, t_{\nu})[X]$, then $\langle f, g \rangle \in \mathbb{Q}(q, t_{\nu})$. It is straightforward to verify:

LEMMA 2.1.1. For any nonzero $f \in \mathcal{V}$, one has $\langle f, f \rangle \neq 0$. In particular, the restriction of \langle , \rangle to any nonzero subspace of \mathcal{V} is nondegenerate.

DEFINITION 2.1.2. The nonsymmetric Macdonald polynomials are the unique elements $\{E_b : b \in P\}$ of $\mathbb{Q}(q, t_{\nu})[X]$ satisfying the following two conditions:

(2.3)
$$E_b = X_b + \sum_{c \succ b} p_{bc} X_c, \text{ where } p_{bc} \in \mathbb{Q}(q, t_{\nu}),$$

(2.4)
$$\langle E_b, X_c \rangle = 0 \text{ for } c \succ b.$$

By Lemma 2.1.1, we can apply the Gram-Schmidt process to the finite-dimensional subspaces $\mathbb{Q}(q, t_{\nu})[X_c : c \succeq b] \subset \mathbb{Q}(q, t_{\nu})[X]$ to construct the E_b . This justifies their existence and uniqueness.

2.2. Orthogonality

An immediate consequence of Definition 2.1.2 is that $\langle E_b, E_c \rangle = 0$ whenever $c \succ b$. In this section, we prove that the E_b are pairwise orthogonal and we give the formula for their norms.

There is a unique anti-involution \star of \mathcal{H} satisfying

$$\star: T_i \mapsto T_i^{-1} \ (i \ge 0), \ X_b \mapsto X_b^{-1}, \ \pi_r \mapsto \pi_r^{-1}, \ q^{1/2m} = q^{-1/2m}, \ t_{\nu}^{1/2} \mapsto t_{\nu}^{-1/2}.$$

This is easy to check using Definition 1.4.1. One also has $Y_b^{\star} = Y_b^{-1}$.

PROPOSITION 2.2.1 ([7]). The representation \mathcal{V} is \star -unitary. That is,

$$\langle H(f), g \rangle = \langle f, H^{\star}(g) \rangle, \text{ for } f, g \in \mathcal{V} \text{ and } H \in \mathcal{H}.$$

For any $b \in P$, we set

$$b_{\sharp} := \pi_b((-\rho_k)) = b - u_b^{-1}(\rho_k).$$

Recall that u_b is the unique element of W of shortest length such that $u_b(b) = b_-$, $\pi_b = bu_b^{-1}$, and ρ_k is from (1.36).

LEMMA 2.2.2. For any $a, b \in P$, one has

(2.5)
$$Y_a(X_b) \equiv q^{-(a,b_{\sharp})} X_b \mod \mathbb{Q}_{q,t}[X_c : c \succ b].$$

We will prove Lemma 2.2.2 at the end of this section. For now, we use it to deduce the following.

COROLLARY 2.2.3. (i) For any $a, b \in P$, one has

(2.6)
$$Y_a(E_b) = q^{-(a,b_{\sharp})} E_b.$$

(ii) If $b \neq c$, then $\langle E_b, E_c \rangle = 0$.

PROOF. (i) For any fixed $a \in P$, one combines Lemma 2.2.2 with Proposition 2.2.1 to see that $\{q^{(a,b_{\sharp})}Y_a(E_b) : b \in P\}$ satisfy the conditions (2.3) and (2.4). Since these conditions determine the E_b uniquely, the claim follows.

(*ii*) For any $a \in P$, Proposition 2.2.1 gives that

(2.7)
$$q^{(a,b_{\sharp})}\langle E_b, E_c \rangle = \langle Y_a(E_b), E_c \rangle = \langle E_b, Y_a^{-1}(E_c) \rangle = q^{-(a,c_{\sharp})}\langle E_b, E_c \rangle.$$

When $b \neq c$, there clearly exists a such that $q^{(a,b_{\sharp})} \neq q^{(a,c_{\sharp})}$ and hence (2.7) implies $\langle E_b, E_c \rangle = 0.$

The values of $\langle E_b, E_b \rangle$ are given by the following theorem, which was stated by Macdonald in [29] (for $k_{\nu} \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}$) and proved by Cherednik in [8].

THEOREM 2.2.4 ([8]). For any $b, c \in P$, one has

(2.8)
$$\langle E_b, E_c \rangle = \delta_{bc} \prod_{[\alpha, \nu_\alpha j] \in \lambda(\pi_b)} \frac{(1 - q_\alpha^j t_\alpha^{-1} X_{-\alpha}(q^{\rho_k}))(t_\alpha^{-1} - q_\alpha^j X_{-\alpha}(q^{\rho_k}))}{(1 - q_\alpha^j X_{-\alpha}(q^{\rho_k}))^2}.$$

We conclude this section with a proof of Lemma 2.2.2.

PROOF OF LEMMA 2.2.2. It suffices to prove the claim for $a \in P_+ \cup P_-$. We consider only $a \in P_+$, the proof for $a \in P_-$ being similar. We use (1.46) to write

$$Y_a = q^{-(a,\rho_k)} \Gamma_{-a} \ddot{G}^+_{\widetilde{\alpha}^l} \cdots \ddot{G}^+_{\widetilde{\alpha}^1},$$

for any reduced expression $a = \pi_r s_{j_l} \cdots s_{j_1}$. Modulo $\mathbb{Q}_{q,t}[X_c : c \succ b]$, one has

$$\ddot{G}_{\tilde{\alpha}}^{+}(X_{b}) \equiv \begin{cases} X_{b} & \text{if } (b,\alpha) > 0, \\ t_{\tilde{\alpha}}X_{b} & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

It follows that $\ddot{G}^+_{\widetilde{\alpha}^l} \cdots \ddot{G}^+_{\widetilde{\alpha}^1}(X_b) \equiv (\prod_{\substack{\widetilde{\alpha} \in \lambda(a) \\ (b,\alpha) \leq 0}} t_{\widetilde{\alpha}}) X_b$, and due to (1.21) and (1.23) one has

$$\prod_{\substack{\widetilde{\alpha}\in\lambda(a)\\(b,\alpha)\leq 0}}t_{\widetilde{\alpha}}=q^{(a,\,\rho_k+u_b^{-1}(\rho_k))}.$$

This gives (2.5) for $a \in P_+$.

2.3. Intertwiners

The *intertwiners* are the elements

$$\begin{split} \Psi_i &:= T_i + \frac{t_i^{1/2} - t_i^{-1/2}}{Y_{\alpha_i}^{-1} - 1} \quad (i = 1, \dots, n), \\ \Psi_0 &:= q^{-1} X_\vartheta T_0^{-1} + \frac{t_0^{1/2} - t_0^{-1/2}}{Y_{\alpha_0}^{-1} - 1}, \\ \Pi_r &:= q^{-(\omega_r, \omega_r)/2} X_{\omega_r} \pi_r \quad (r \in O'), \quad \Pi_0 := 1. \end{split}$$

Recall that $Y_{[b,j]} = q^{-j}Y_b$ for $b \in P$ and $j \in \mathbb{Z}$. Strictly speaking, the Ψ_i belong to a localization of \mathcal{H} , but since we will apply the intertwiners to the nonsymmetric Macdonald polynomials only, we will not be concerned with this point.

Due to (2.6), the action of Ψ_i on E_b is given by Ψ_i^b , where

$$\Psi_i^b := T_i + \frac{t_i^{1/2} - t_i^{-1/2}}{X_{\alpha_i}(q^{b_\sharp}) - 1} \quad (i = 1, \dots, n), \quad \Psi_0^b := q^{-1} X_\vartheta T_0^{-1} + \frac{t_0^{1/2} - t_0^{-1/2}}{X_{\alpha_0}(q^{b_\sharp}) - 1}.$$

Recall that $X_{\tilde{\alpha}}(q^c) = q^{(\alpha,c)+\nu_{\alpha}j}$. The following proposition describes the action of the intertwiners on the nonsymmetric Macdonald polynomials. Recall the definition of d in the extended pairing (1.13).

PROPOSITION 2.3.1 ([11]). Let $b \in P$. (i) If $(b + d, \alpha_i) > 0$ for some i = 0, ..., n, then

(2.9)
$$q^{-\frac{(c,c)}{2}}E_c = q^{-\frac{(b,b)}{2}}t_i^{1/2}\Psi_i^b(E_b), \quad where \quad c = s_i((b)).$$

(ii) If $(b+d, \alpha_i) = 0$ for some $i = 0, \ldots, n$, then

(2.10)
$$\tau_+(T_i)(E_b) = t_i^{1/2} E_b$$

(iii) For any $r \in O$, one has

(2.11)
$$q^{-\frac{(c,c)}{2}}E_c = q^{-\frac{(b,b)}{2}}\Pi_r(E_b), \quad where \quad c = \pi_r((b)).$$

We note that for i > 0, (2.10) is equivalent to $s_i(E_b) = E_b$.

Starting from $E_0 = 1$, Proposition 2.3.1 can be used to construct E_b for any $b \in P$, as follows. For any reduced expression $\pi_b = \pi_r s_{j_l} \cdots s_{j_1}$, form $\lambda(\pi_b) = \{\widetilde{\alpha}^1, \ldots, \widetilde{\alpha}^l\}$ using (1.20) and set $b_1 = 0$ and $b_p = s_{j_{p-1}} \cdots s_{j_1}((0))$ for $p = 2, \ldots, l$. Then

$$(b_p + d, \alpha_{j_p}) = (d, \widetilde{\alpha}^p) > 0, \text{ by } (1.22)$$

and hence

(2.12)
$$q^{-(b,b)/2}E_b = t^{l(\pi_b)/2} \prod_r \Psi_{j_l}^{b_l} \cdots \Psi_{j_1}^{b_1}(1), \text{ where } t^{l(\pi_b)/2} = \prod_{\nu} t_{\nu}^{l_{\nu}(\pi_b)/2}.$$

COROLLARY 2.3.2. The coefficients of the polynomial

(2.13)
$$\prod_{[\alpha,\nu_{\alpha}j]\in\lambda(\pi_b)} (1-q_{\alpha}^j X_{-\alpha}(q^{\rho_k})) E_b$$

belong to $\mathbb{Z}[q, t_{\nu}]$.

PROOF. We take a reduced expression $\pi_b = \pi_r s_{j_l} \cdots s_{j_1}$ and use (2.12). We use the following property of the elements $\{\pi_b : b \in P\}$: for any $0 \le i \le n$, one has $(b + d, \alpha_i) \ne 0$ if and only if $\pi_{s_i((b))} = s_i \pi_b$; see, e.g., [10, (1.20)] or [30, (2.4.14)]. In particular, $\pi_{b^p} = s_{j_{p-1}} \cdots s_{j_1}$ and therefore

$$(\widetilde{\alpha}^p, -\rho_k + d) = (\alpha_{j_p}, \pi_{b^p}((-\rho_k)) + d).$$

Hence the product in (2.13) clears all denominators in (2.12).

2.4. Limits

Corollary 2.3.2 implies that the E_b are well defined when $t_{\nu} = 0$ for all $\nu \in \nu_R$. We denote by \overline{E}_b the image of E_b under this specialization. It also follows from Corollary 2.3.2 that the coefficients of \overline{E}_b belong to $\mathbb{Z}[q]$.

REMARK. As a matter of fact, the coefficients of \overline{E}_b are known to lie in $\mathbb{Z}_+[q]$. This follows from results of Ion [25] and Sanderson [33], which identify $\{\overline{E}_b\}$ with the characters of level-one Demazure modules for the (twisted) affine Lie algebra associated to R (i.e., for the affine Lie algebra having \widetilde{R} as its system of real roots). The strategy employed in [25, 33] is to establish a connection between the intertwiner construction of E_b via Proposition 2.3.1 (as $t_{\nu} = 0$) and the Demazure character formula, which was proved for any Kac-Moody Lie algebra by Kumar [27].

Let us consider more systematically the behavior of \mathcal{H} and \mathcal{V} under the specialization $t_{\nu} = 0$. Let $\ddot{\mathbb{Q}}_{q,t}$ be the subring of $\mathbb{Q}_{q,t}$ consisting of those rational functions that are well defined when $t_{\nu}^{1/2} = 0$ for all $\nu \in \nu_R$.

The definition of \mathcal{H} given in Definition 1.4.1, while standard in the literature, is not suited to this specialization. We therefore introduce the following normalization:

$$\ddot{T}_i := t_i^{1/2} T_i, \quad \ddot{T}'_i := t_i^{1/2} T_i^{-1} = \ddot{T}_i - (t_i - 1).$$

Note that the same normalization is used for both T_i and T_i^{-1} , so that $\ddot{T}_i \ddot{T}_i' = t_i$. This ensures that \ddot{T}_i and \ddot{T}_i' are well defined in \mathcal{V} when $t_i = 0$.

The \ddot{T}_i (i = 0, ..., n) satisfy the braid relations¹ for T_i given in (1.29). Consequently, the elements $\ddot{T}_{\widehat{w}} := \pi_r \ddot{T}_{j_l} \cdots \ddot{T}_{j_1}$, where $\widehat{w} = \pi_r s_{j_l} \cdots s_{j_1}$ is any reduced expression in \widehat{W} , are well defined. The quadratic relations for \ddot{T}_i read: $(\ddot{T}_i - t_i)(\ddot{T}_i + 1) = 0$.

Correspondingly, we define $\ddot{Y}_b := q^{(b_+,\rho_k)}Y_b$ for any $b \in P$. Note that $\ddot{Y}_b\ddot{Y}_{-b} = q^{2(b_+,\rho_k)}$.

DEFINITION 2.4.1. Let $\dot{\mathcal{H}}$ be the $\ddot{\mathbb{Q}}_{q,t}$ -subalgebra of \mathcal{H} generated by the elements

$$X_a \ (b \in P), \ \ \ddot{T}_{\widehat{w}} \ (\widehat{w} \in \widehat{W}), \ \ \ddot{Y}_b \ (b \in P).$$

It is straightforward to check that the algebra $\dot{\mathcal{H}}$ is generated over $\ddot{\mathbb{Q}}_{q,t}$ by

$$X_a \ (b \in P), \quad \ddot{T}_i \ (i \ge 0), \quad \text{and} \quad \Pi,$$

subject to the defining relations:

$$\begin{aligned} (\ddot{T}_{i} - t_{i})(\ddot{T}_{i} + 1) &= 0, & \ddot{T}_{i}\ddot{T}_{j}\ddot{T}_{i}\cdots &= \ddot{T}_{j}\ddot{T}_{i}\ddot{T}_{j}\cdots, \\ \ddot{T}_{i}X_{b} &= X_{b}X_{\alpha_{i}}^{-1}\ddot{T}_{i}' & \text{if } (b,\alpha_{i}^{\vee}) = 1, & \ddot{T}_{i}X_{b} = X_{b}\ddot{T}_{i} & \text{if } (b,\alpha_{i}^{\vee}) = 0, \\ \pi_{r}\ddot{T}_{i}\pi_{r}^{-1} &= \ddot{T}_{j} & \text{if } \pi_{r}(\alpha_{i}) = \alpha_{j}, & \pi_{r}X_{b}\pi_{r}^{-1} = X_{\pi_{r}(b)} = X_{u_{r}^{-1}(b)}q^{(\omega_{r}^{*},b)}, \end{aligned}$$

¹ This is due to the fact that $m_{ij} = 2, 3, 4$, or 6, and when $m_{ij} = 3$, α_i and α_j have the same length and hence $t_i = t_j$.

where $0 \leq i, j \leq n, b \in P, r \in O$, and the braid relations contain m_{ij} factors on each side.

We observe that the restriction to $\dot{\mathcal{H}}$ of the \mathcal{H} -action in the polynomial representation \mathcal{V} preserves $\ddot{\mathcal{V}} := \ddot{\mathbb{Q}}_{q,t}[X]$.

DEFINITION 2.4.2. The *nil-DAHA* $\overline{\mathcal{H}}$ is defined as the specialization of $\dot{\mathcal{H}}$ at $t_{\nu}^{1/2} = 0$ for all $\nu \in \nu_R$. More precisely, let $\mathbb{Q}_q := \mathbb{Q}(q^{1/2m})$ and define $\overline{\mathcal{H}}$ to be the \mathbb{Q}_q -algebra

(2.14)
$$\overline{\mathcal{H}} := \mathbb{Q}_q \otimes_{\ddot{\mathbb{Q}}_{q,t}} \dot{\mathcal{H}}_{t}$$

where the tensor product structure is defined using the homomorphism $\ddot{\mathbb{Q}}_{q,t} \to \mathbb{Q}_q$ fixing \mathbb{Q}_q and sending $t_{\nu}^{1/2} \mapsto 0$ for all $\nu \in \nu_R$.

Specializing $\ddot{\mathcal{V}}$ in the same manner, we obtain an $\overline{\mathcal{H}}$ -module $\overline{\mathcal{V}} := \mathbb{Q}_q[X]$.

We denote the images of \ddot{T}_i and \ddot{Y}_b in $\overline{\mathcal{H}}$ by \overline{T}_i and \overline{Y}_b , respectively. Using (2.6), we arrive at

$$\overline{Y}_{a}(\overline{E}_{b}) = \begin{cases} q^{-(a,b)}\overline{E}_{b}, & \text{if } u_{b}(a) = a_{-} \\ 0, & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

If $(b, \alpha_i) > 0$ and $1 \le i \le n$, then the intertwiner $t_i^{1/2} \Psi_i^b$ becomes $\overline{T}_i + 1$ as $t_i = 0$. This has the following consequence.

PROPOSITION 2.4.3. If $b \in P_{-}$, then \overline{E}_{b} is W-invariant.

PROOF. For $1 \leq i \leq n$ and any $f \in \overline{\mathcal{V}}$, one has $s_i(f) = f$ if and only if $\overline{T}_i(f) = 0$. When $b \in P_-$, Proposition 2.3.1 gives that $\overline{E}_b = (\overline{T}_i + 1)\overline{E}_{s_i(b)}$ for any $i = 1, \ldots, n$. Hence $\overline{T}_i(\overline{E}_b) = 0$, because $\overline{T}_i(\overline{T}_i + 1) = 0$.

Next we consider the orthogonality relations (2.8) as $t_{\nu} = 0$. We set

$$\overline{\mu} := \mu(t_{\nu} = 0) = \prod_{\alpha \in R_+} \prod_{j=0}^{\infty} (1 - X_{\alpha} q_{\alpha}^j) (1 - X_{\alpha}^{-1} q_{\alpha}^{j+1}), \quad \overline{\mu}_{\circ} := \overline{\mu} / \langle \overline{\mu} \rangle.$$

To state the counterpart of (2.8) as $t_{\nu} = 0$, we will need the limits \overline{E}_b^{\dagger} of the E_b as $t_{\nu} \to \infty$. We will justify the existence of these limits below. More generally, we set $\overline{f}^{\dagger} := \lim_{t_{\nu}\to\infty} f$ for any Laurent polynomial or series depending on q, t_{ν} , provided the existence of this limit. Then one has

(2.15)
$$\overline{(f^*)} = (\overline{f}^{\dagger})^*, \quad \overline{(f^*)}^{\dagger} = (\overline{f})^*.$$

Using this notation, (2.8) reads as follows for $t_{\nu} = 0$:

(2.16)
$$\langle \overline{E}_b, \overline{E}_c \rangle := \langle \overline{E}_b (\overline{E}_c^{\dagger})^* \overline{\mu}_{\circ} \rangle = \delta_{bc} \prod_{[\alpha, j]} (1 - q_{\alpha}^j),$$

where the product runs over all $[-\alpha, \nu_{\alpha} j] \in \lambda(\pi_b)$ for simple $\alpha = \alpha_i \in R_+$.

Formula (2.16) provides an indirect justification of the existence of the limits \overline{E}_b^{\dagger} for any $b \in P$. We now give a constructive justification of this fact using the intertwiners. We will also show in Corollary 2.4.5 that the coefficients of \overline{E}_b^{\dagger} belong to $\mathbb{Z}[q^{-1}]$.

To this end, we set

$$\begin{split} \ddot{T}_{i}^{\dagger} &:= t_{i}^{-1/2} T_{i}, \\ \overline{T}_{i}^{\dagger} &:= \ddot{T}_{i}^{\dagger} (t_{i} = \infty), \\ \end{split} \qquad (\ddot{T}_{i}^{\dagger})' &:= (\ddot{T}_{i}^{\dagger})' (t_{i} = \infty) = \overline{T}_{i}^{\dagger} - 1, \end{split}$$

and, correspondingly, $\ddot{Y}_a^{\dagger} := q^{-(a_+,\rho_k)}Y_a$. It is then straightforward to see that $\overline{Y}_a^{\dagger} := \lim_{t_{\nu}\to\infty} \ddot{Y}_a^{\dagger}$ is well defined and that (2.6) gives

$$\overline{Y}_{a}^{\dagger}(\overline{E}_{b}^{\dagger}) = \begin{cases} q^{-(a,b)}\overline{E}_{b} & \text{if } u_{b}(a) = a_{+} \\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

PROPOSITION 2.4.4. (i) For $b \in P_{-}$,

(2.17)
$$\overline{E}_b^{\dagger} = q^{(\rho,b)} (\overline{T}'_{\pi_{\rho}} (\overline{E}_{-w_0(b)}))^*,$$

where $\overline{T}'_{\pi_{\rho}} := \overline{T}'_{j_1} \cdots \overline{T}'_{j_l} \pi_r^{-1}$ is defined for any reduced expression $\pi_{\rho} = \pi_r s_{j_l} \cdots s_{j_1}$ (and does not depend on the choice of the reduced expression).

(ii) If $(b, \alpha_i) < 0$ and $1 \le i \le n$, then

(2.18)
$$\overline{E}_{s_i(b)}^{\dagger} = \begin{cases} (1 - q^{(b,\alpha_i)})^{-1} (\overline{T}_i^{\dagger})' (\overline{E}_b^{\dagger}) & \text{if } (u_b(\alpha_i), \rho^{\vee}) = 1, \\ (\overline{T}_i^{\dagger})' (\overline{E}_b^{\dagger}) & \text{if } (u_b(\alpha_i), \rho^{\vee}) > 1. \end{cases}$$

PROOF. (i) Let $b \in P_{-}$. We will use the formula

(2.19)
$$E_b^* = \prod_{\nu \in \nu_R} t_{\nu}^{l_{\nu}(u_b) - l_{\nu}(w_0)/2} T_{w_0}(E_{-w_0(b)})$$

from [11, (3.3.24)].

We prove (2.17) by renormalizing (2.19) as follows. Note that $q^{(c,w_0(b)+\rho_k)}Y_c^{-1}$ acts as the identity on $E_{-w_0(b)}$ for any $c \in P$. Taking $c = c_+$, so that $l_{\nu}(c) = 2(c, \rho_{\nu}^{\vee})$, one therefore has

(2.20)
$$E_b^* = q^{(c,w_0(b))} \prod_{\nu} t_{\nu}^{-l_{\nu}(w_0)/2 + l_{\nu}(c)/2} T_{w_0} Y_c^{-1}(E_{-w_0(b)}).$$

Specializing further to $c = \rho$, we have $Y_{\rho} = T_{\pi_{\rho}}T_{w_0}$ and (2.20) becomes

$$E_b^* = q^{-(\rho,b)} \prod_{\nu} t_{\nu}^{l_{\nu}(\pi_{\rho})/2} T_{\pi_{\rho}}^{-1}(E_{-w_0(b)}) = q^{-(\rho,b)} \ddot{T}_{\pi_{\rho}}'(E_{-w_0(b)}),$$

where by definition $\ddot{T}'_{\pi_{\rho}} = \ddot{T}'_{j_1} \cdots \ddot{T}'_{j_l} \pi_r^{-1}$ for any reduced decomposition $\pi_{\rho} = \pi_r s_{j_l} \cdots s_{j_1}$. Moving * to the right-hand side and taking $t_{\nu} \to \infty$, we obtain (2.17).

(*ii*) This follows from a modification of (2.9). It is convenient to use the normalized intertwiners $G_i := \psi_i^{-1} \Psi_i$ for

$$\Psi_i = \tau_+(T_i) + \frac{t_i^{1/2} - t_i^{-1/2}}{Y_{\alpha_i}^{-1} - 1}, \quad \psi_i = t_i^{1/2} + \frac{t_i^{1/2} - t_i^{-1/2}}{Y_{\alpha_i}^{-1} - 1}.$$

For simplicity, let us take here $1 \leq i \leq n$. In addition to the braid relations, the normalized intertwiners satisfy $G_i^2 = 1$. Hence $\Psi_i^{-1} = \psi_i^{-1} \Psi_i \psi_i^{-1}$. Now, when $(b, \alpha_i) < 0$, (2.9) gives $E_{s_i(b)} = t_i^{-1/2} \Psi_i^{-1}(E_b)$. Applying $\Psi_i^{-1} = \psi_i^{-1} \Psi_i \psi_i^{-1}$ to E_b , the first ψ_i^{-1}

produces

$$\left(t_i^{1/2} + \frac{t_i^{1/2} - t_i^{-1/2}}{q^{(\alpha_i, b_{\sharp})} - 1}\right)^{-1} = t_i^{1/2} \frac{q^{(\alpha_i, b_{\sharp})} - 1}{q^{(\alpha_i, b_{\sharp})} t_i - 1}$$

The second (left) ψ_i^{-1} produces the factor

$$\left(t_i^{1/2} + \frac{t_i^{1/2} - t_i^{-1/2}}{q^{-(\alpha_i, b_{\sharp})} - 1}\right)^{-1} = t_i^{-1/2} \frac{q^{-(\alpha_i, b_{\sharp})} - 1}{q^{-(\alpha_i, b_{\sharp})} - t_i^{-1}} = t_i^{-1/2} \frac{q^{(\alpha_i, b_{\sharp})} - 1}{q^{(\alpha_i, b_{\sharp})} t_i^{-1} - 1}$$

Multiplying these two factors and taking $t_{\nu} \to \infty$, one arrives at (2.18). Note that $u_b(\alpha_i) > 0$ and hence $q^{(\alpha_i, b_{\sharp})}$ contains nonpositive powers of t_{ν} and at least one t_i^{-1} .

COROLLARY 2.4.5. The polynomials \overline{E}_b^{\dagger} are well defined for any $b \in P$. Moreover, the coefficients of \overline{E}_b^{\dagger} belong to $\mathbb{Z}[q^{-1}]$ for any $b \in P$.

PROOF. The existence of \overline{E}_b^{\dagger} for any $b \in P$ follows from (2.17) and (2.18). More precisely, (2.17) gives the existence of \overline{E}_b^{\dagger} for $b \in P_-$, and (2.18) allows one to construct \overline{E}_b^{\dagger} for any $b \in P$ starting from $b_- \in P_-$.

By Corollary 2.3.2, the denominators of the coefficients in E_b are of products of factors of the form

$$(1-q^j \prod_{\nu} t_{\nu}^{m_{\nu}}), \text{ where } j, \sum_{\nu} m_{\nu} > 0.$$

Since we already know that \overline{E}_b^{\dagger} exists, we may set $t = t_{\nu}$ for all ν when calculating the limits of the coefficients. As polynomials in t, the denominators of E_b then have leading terms of the form $\pm q^r t^s$ where r, s > 0, and no higher power of t can appear in the corresponding numerators. Thus the coefficients of \overline{E}_b^{\dagger} must belong to $\mathbb{Z}[q^{\pm 1}]$.

Using (2.17), it is easy to see that \overline{E}_b^{\dagger} has coefficients in $\mathbb{Z}[q^{-1}]$ for $b \in P_-$. Then (2.18) shows that this holds for arbitrary $b \in P$.

CHAPTER 3

Spherical and Whittaker functions

In this chapter, we mainly regard the parameters q and t_{ν} as nonzero complex numbers. Recall that $t_{\nu} = q_{\nu}^{k_{\nu}}$. When discussing the convergence of infinite series, we will assume in addition that |q| < 1.

3.1. Gaussian

By the *Gaussian* we mean the Laurent series

(3.1)
$$\widetilde{\gamma} = \sum_{b \in P} q^{(b,b)/2} X_b.$$

Multiplication by $\tilde{\gamma}$ preserves the space of Laurent series with coefficients in $\mathbb{Q}[t][[q^{1/2m}]]$. Recall that $X_b(q^x) = q^{(b,x)}$. Regarding X_b as a function of $x \in \mathbb{C}^n$ in this way, the Gaussian $\tilde{\gamma}$ converges uniformly on compact subsets of \mathbb{C}^n , provided |q| < 1. We will write $\tilde{\gamma}_x$ whenever we want to regard $\tilde{\gamma}$ as an entire function of $x \in \mathbb{C}^n$.

The main property the Gaussian that we will need is the following:

(3.2)
$$\Gamma_a(\widetilde{\gamma}) = q^{-(a,a)/2} X_a^{-1} \widetilde{\gamma} \text{ for } a \in P.$$

In particular, one has

(3.3)
$$\Gamma_{-\rho_k}(\widetilde{\gamma}) = q^{-(\rho_k,\rho_k)/2} X_{\rho_k} \widetilde{\gamma},$$

provided $\rho_k \in P$ (e.g., when $k_{\nu} \in \mathbb{Z}$).

3.2. Global spherical function

We use the notation $\tilde{\gamma}_{\lambda}$ for the Gaussian defined in terms of the variable $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}^n$. Correspondingly, we write $\Lambda = q^{\lambda}$ and $\Lambda_b(q^{\lambda}) = q^{(b,\lambda)}$. We will use superscripts when applying operators from the polynomial representation of \mathcal{H} to functions of x or λ . For instance, we write T_i^{λ} for the action of T_i on the variables λ . When no superscript is used, such operators are understood to act on the variables x.

We will also use the normalization constant

(3.4)
$$\widetilde{\gamma}(q^{\rho_k}) = \sum_{b \in P} q^{\frac{(b,b)}{2} + (b,\rho_k)}.$$

When $\rho_k \in P$, one has

(3.5)
$$\widetilde{\gamma}(q^{\rho_k}) = q^{-(\rho_k, \rho_k)/2} \widetilde{\gamma}(1), \text{ where } \widetilde{\gamma}(1) := \sum_{b \in P} q^{(b,b)/2}.$$

The function $G(X, \Lambda)$ defined in the following theorem is called the global nonsymmetric spherical function.¹

THEOREM 3.2.1 ([9]). (i) The series

(3.6)
$$\Xi(X,\Lambda;q,t) := \sum_{b \in P} q^{(b_{\sharp},b_{\sharp})/2 - (\rho_k,\rho_k)/2} \ \frac{E_b^*(X) E_b(\Lambda)}{\langle E_b, E_b \rangle}$$

converges in the ring of formal Laurent series in X, Λ with coefficients in $\mathbb{Q}[t][[q^{\frac{1}{2m}}]]$. When |q| < 1, Ξ converges to an entire function of x, λ , provided t_{ν} are chosen so that all the E_b are well defined (by Proposition 2.3.2, the conditions $|t_{\nu}| < 1$ are sufficient). Accordingly, $G(X, \Lambda)$ defined via

(3.7)
$$\frac{\widetilde{\gamma}_x \, \widetilde{\gamma}_\lambda}{\widetilde{\gamma}(q^{\rho_k})} G(X, \Lambda) := \Xi(X, \Lambda; q, t)$$

is a meromorphic function of X, Λ and it is holomorphic where $\widetilde{\gamma}_x \widetilde{\gamma}_\lambda \neq 0$.

(ii) The function $G(X, \Lambda)$ satisfies $G(X, \Lambda) = G(\Lambda, X)$ and

(3.8)
$$H^{x}(G(X,\Lambda)) = (\varphi(H))^{\lambda}(G(X,\Lambda)) \text{ for } H \in \mathcal{H},$$

¹ This terminology reflects connections to Harish-Chandra's theory of spherical functions on real semisimple Lie groups; cf. [24, 36].

in terms of the anti-involution φ from (1.39). More concretely, one has

(3.9)
$$T_i^x(G(X,\Lambda)) = T_i^\lambda(G(X,\Lambda)) \text{ for } 1 \le i \le n,$$

$$(3.10) Y_a(G(X,\Lambda)) = \Lambda_a^{-1}G(X,\Lambda) and X_a^{-1}G(X,\Lambda) = Y_a^{\lambda}(G(X,\Lambda)) for \ a \in P.$$

(iii) The function $G(X, \Lambda)$ extends the nonsymmetric Macdonald polynomials as follows. For any $b \in P$, one has

(3.11)
$$G(X, q^{b_{\sharp}}) = \frac{E_b(X)}{E_b(q^{-\rho_k})} \prod_{\alpha \in R_+} \prod_{j=1}^{\infty} \frac{1 - q^{(\rho_k, \alpha) + j\nu_\alpha}}{1 - t_\alpha^{-1} q^{(\rho_k, \alpha) + j\nu_\alpha}}.$$

REMARK. The convergence of the series Ξ from (3.6) as an entire function can be justified using the following estimate. For any compact subset $K \subset \mathbb{C}^n$, there exists a constant $C = C_K > 0$ such that

$$|E_b(q^x)| \le C^{|b|}$$
, for all $x \in K$ and $b \in P$,

where $|b|^2 = (b, b)$. This estimate can be demonstrated using the intertwiner recurrence for the E_b from Proposition 2.3.1; see, e.g., [35, Proposition 5.13].

3.3. Symmetrization

Define the symmetrizer

(3.12)
$$\mathcal{P} := \sum_{w \in W} \prod_{\nu \in \nu_R} t_{\nu}^{l_{\nu}(w)/2} T_w$$

Then one has (see, e.g., [30, (5.5.9)])

$$(T_i - t_i^{1/2})\mathcal{P} = 0 = \mathcal{P}(T_i - t_i^{1/2}),$$

and hence $\mathcal{P} : \mathbb{Q}_{q,t}[X] \to \mathbb{Q}_{q,t}[X]^W$. As above, we will write \mathcal{P}^x or \mathcal{P}^{λ} to distinguish between the variables x and λ . The global symmetric spherical function is defined as

(3.13)
$$F(X,\Lambda) := \mathcal{P}^x(G(X,\Lambda)) = \mathcal{P}^\lambda(G(X,\Lambda)).$$

The second equality in (3.13) holds due to (3.9). The function $F(X, \Lambda)$ is W-invariant in both X and Λ , satisfies $F(X, \Lambda) = F(\Lambda, X)$, and for any $f \in \mathbb{Q}_{q,t}[X]^W$, one has

(3.14)
$$L_f(F(X,\Lambda)) = f(\Lambda^{-1})F(X,\Lambda), \quad f(X^{-1})F(X,\Lambda) = L_f^{\lambda}(G(X,\Lambda)).$$

Here $f(X^{-1})$ means we replace X_b by X_{-b} , and similarly for $f(\Lambda^{-1})$. For these and further properties of $F(X, \Lambda)$, we refer to [9, 13].

3.4. Whittaker limit

We assume that |q| < 1 and $k_{\nu} \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}$ in this section. For any difference operator L and any function F(X), set

(3.15)
$$\varkappa(L) := (X_{\rho_k} \Gamma_{-\rho_k}) L (X_{\rho_k} \Gamma_{-\rho_k})^{-1}, \quad \varkappa(F) := X_{\rho_k} \Gamma_{-\rho_k}(F).$$

DEFINITION 3.4.1. The Ruijsenaars-Etingof limiting procedure is defined by

(3.16)
$$RE(L) := \lim_{k \to \infty} \varkappa(L), \quad RE(F) := \lim_{k \to \infty} \varkappa(F),$$

where we take $k_{\nu} \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}$ and $k \to \infty$ means that $k_{\nu} \to \infty$ for all $\nu \in \nu_R$; equivalently, $t_{\nu} \to 0$ for all $\nu \in \nu_R$.

This limiting procedure is a natural extension of (0.3) to arbitrary root systems. The definition (3.16) first appeared in [13], where it was shown that the limit

(3.17)
$$\mathcal{W}(X,\Lambda) := RE(F(X,\Lambda))$$

exists for $F(X, \Lambda)$ from (3.13). The function $\mathcal{W}(X, \Lambda)$ is called the *global symmetric* Whittaker function. We note that $\mathcal{W}(X, \Lambda)$ is W-invariant in Λ but no longer in X.

CHAPTER 4

Nonsymmetric Whittaker function

In this chapter we come to the main objects of this dissertation: the nonsymmetric Ruijsenaars-Etingof limiting procedure RE^{δ} , the global nonsymmetric Whittaker function Ω , and the Toda-Dunkl operators \hat{Y}_b . In order to construct these objects, we first introduce the notion of W-spinors.

When discussing the convergence of limits and series, we assume that q is a nonzero complex number and that |q| < 1.

4.1. W-spinors

Given a vector space V over any field, let $\mathcal{F}(W, V)$ denote the space of functions from W to V. This space carries a natural action of W given by

$$(\delta(w)f)(u) := f(w^{-1}u), \text{ for } f \in \mathcal{F}(W,V), w, u \in W.$$

If V is also an algebra over the base field, then $\mathcal{F}(W, V)$ inherits this structure via pointwise multiplication, and W then acts by algebra automorphisms.

Consider the $\mathbb{Q}_{q,t}$ -algebra $\mathcal{F}(W, \mathcal{V})$; in [15], elements of this algebra are called Wspinors. For any $w \in W$, denote by ζ_w the characteristic function $\zeta_w(u) = \delta_{wu}$. These are pairwise orthogonal idempotents in $\mathcal{F}(W, \mathcal{V})$, and any element in $\mathcal{F}(W, \mathcal{V})$ can be written uniquely as

$$f = \sum_{w \in W} f_w \zeta_w$$
, where $f_w := f(w) \in \mathcal{V}$.

We refer to f_w as the *w*-component of f. We observe that $\delta(w)(\zeta_v) = \zeta_{wv}$ and hence for any $f \in \mathcal{F}(W, \mathcal{V})$:

(4.1)
$$(\delta(v)f)_w = f_{v^{-1}w}.$$

One has a natural embedding of algebras $\delta : \mathcal{V} \to \mathcal{F}(W, \mathcal{V})$ given by

(4.2)
$$\delta(F) := \sum_{w \in W} F \zeta_w.$$

The image of δ is the space of W-invariants of $\mathcal{F}(W, \mathcal{V})$, which will be denoted by $\mathcal{F}^{\delta}(W, \mathcal{V})$.

We define another algebra embedding $\rho: \mathcal{V} \to \mathcal{F}(W, \mathcal{V})$ by

(4.3)
$$\varrho(F) := \sum_{w \in W} w^{-1}(F) \zeta_w.$$

Thus $F \in \mathcal{V}$ is *W*-invariant if and only if $\varrho(F) = \delta(F)$. For arbitrary $F \in \mathcal{V}$ we may also write $F^{\varrho} := \varrho(F)$ and $F^{\delta} := \delta(F)$. When no superscript is used, we take the image F^{ϱ} under the embedding ϱ by default.

Generally, any endomorphism of \mathcal{V} acts pointwise in $\mathcal{F}(W, \mathcal{V})$. For instance, given a translation Γ_b , we set

$$\Gamma_b(f)(u) := \Gamma_b(f(u)).$$

We define

(4.4)
$$\delta(\Gamma_b) = \Gamma_b^{\delta} := \sum_{w \in W} \Gamma_b \, \zeta_w,$$

(4.5)
$$\varrho(\Gamma_b) = \Gamma_b^{\varrho} := \sum_{w \in W} \Gamma_{w^{-1}(b)} \zeta_w,$$

where we let ζ_w act by multiplication in $\mathcal{F}(W, \mathcal{V})$. Similarly, we let X_b act by pointwise multiplication:

$$X_b(f)(u) := X_b(f(u)).$$

REMARK. All of the constructions above can be applied to more general spaces of functions other than \mathcal{V} (as long as the spaces are preserved by W). For instance, one may replace \mathcal{V} by the field of rational functions $\mathbb{Q}_{q,t}(X)$, or more generally by meromorphic functions of $X \in (\mathbb{C}^*)^n$. We will apply the above constructions in such contexts without further comment. When considering a function F(X), we take by default the image F^{ϱ} under the embedding ϱ , unless otherwise specified.

Recall from Section 1.5 that \mathcal{D} denotes the algebra of difference-reflection operators over $\mathbb{Q}_{q,t}$. We define a map from \mathcal{D} to $\operatorname{End}_{\mathbb{Q}_{q,t}}(\mathcal{F}(W, \mathbb{Q}_{q,t}(X)))$ by

$$\phi: g \Gamma_b w \mapsto \varrho(g) \varrho(\Gamma_b) \delta(w), \text{ where } g \in \mathbb{Q}_{q,t}(X), b \in P, w \in W.$$

It is then straightforward verify the following:

LEMMA 4.1.1. The map $\phi : \mathcal{D} \to \operatorname{End}_{\mathbb{Q}_{q,t}}(\mathcal{F}(W,\mathbb{Q}_{q,t}(X)))$ is a homomorphism of algebras.

We obtain an action of \mathcal{H} in $\mathcal{F}(W, \mathbb{Q}_{q,t}(X))$ by composing ϕ with the polynomial representation, the latter being viewed as a homomorphism $\mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{D}$.

4.2. Nonsymmetric limiting procedure

For a difference-reflection operator \mathcal{L} and a function F(X), let

(4.6)
$$\varkappa^{\delta}(\mathcal{L}) := \delta(X_{\rho_k}\Gamma_{-\rho_k}) \phi(\mathcal{L}) \,\delta(X_{\rho_k}\Gamma_{-\rho_k})^{-1},$$
$$\varkappa^{\delta}(F) := \delta(X_{\rho_k}\Gamma_{-\rho_k})(\varrho(F)).$$

For instance, one has

(4.7)
$$\varkappa^{\delta}(X_b) = \sum_{w \in W} \prod_{\nu} t_{\nu}^{-(\rho_{\nu}^{\vee}, w^{-1}(b))} X_{w^{-1}(b)} \zeta_w,$$

(4.8)
$$\varkappa^{\delta}(\Gamma_{b}) = \sum_{w \in W} \prod_{\nu} t_{\nu}^{-(\rho_{\nu}^{\vee}, w^{-1}(b))} \Gamma_{w^{-1}(b)} \zeta_{w},$$

(4.9)
$$\varkappa^{\delta}(w) = \delta(w) \text{ for } w \in W.$$

We observe that

(4.10)
$$\varkappa^{\delta}(v\mathcal{L}w) = v \varkappa^{\delta}(\mathcal{L}) w \text{ for } v, w \in W,$$

for any difference-reflection operator \mathcal{L} .

DEFINITION 4.2.1. The nonsymmetric Ruijsenaars-Etingof procedure is defined by

(4.11)
$$RE^{\delta}(\mathcal{L}) := \lim_{k \to \infty} \varkappa^{\delta}(\mathcal{L}), \quad RE^{\delta}(F) := \lim_{k \to \infty} \varkappa^{\delta}(F),$$

where $k_{\nu} \in \mathbb{Z}_+$ and $k \to \infty$ means that $k_{\nu} \to \infty$ for all $\nu \in \nu_R$; equivalently, $t_{\nu} \to 0$.

This limiting procedure was defined in [15] for the root system A_1 .

4.3. Calculating the limit

Recall that we assume |q| < 1. We also take $k_{\nu} \in \mathbb{Z}_+$ in this section.

The global nonsymmetric difference Whittaker function is defined as

(4.12)
$$\Omega(X,\Lambda) := RE^{\delta}(G(X,\Lambda))$$

The following proposition justifies the existence $\Omega(X, \Lambda)$.

PROPOSITION 4.3.1. The limit, as $k \to \infty$, of the series $\Gamma^{\delta}_{-\rho_k}(\Xi(X,\Lambda;q,t))$ exists; here $\Xi(X,\Lambda;q,t)$ is the series from (3.6). Accordingly,

(4.13)
$$\Omega(X,\Lambda) = \frac{\widetilde{\gamma}(1)}{\widetilde{\gamma}_x \,\widetilde{\gamma}_\lambda} \sum_{b \in P} q^{(b,b)/2} \, \frac{\overline{E}_b(\Lambda)}{\langle \overline{E}_b, \overline{E}_b \rangle} \, \sum_{w \in W} a_{b,w} \, X_{-b_-} \, \zeta_w,$$

where $\widetilde{\gamma}(1) := \sum_{b \in P} q^{(b,b)/2}$ and $a_{b,w}$ is the limit, as all $t_{\nu} \to 0$, of the coefficient of $X_{-w(b_{-})}$ in E_b^* . In particular, one has $a_{b,w} \in \mathbb{Z}[q]$ and $a_{b,u_b^{-1}} = 1$, $a_{b,\mathrm{id}} = \delta_{b,b_{-}}$.

PROOF. First, one has

$$\delta(X_{\rho_k}\Gamma_{-\rho_k})(\widetilde{\gamma}_x)^{-1} = q^{(\rho_k,\rho_k)/2}(\widetilde{\gamma}_x)^{-1}\delta(\Gamma_{-\rho_k}),$$

as operators. (Due to the *W*-invariance of $\tilde{\gamma}_x$, we omit ρ here.) Using (3.5), we arrive that factor $\tilde{\gamma}(1)$ in (4.13). It now suffices to consider the limit of

$$q^{-(b_-,\rho_k)} \Gamma^{\delta}_{-\rho_k}(\varrho(E_b^*(X))),$$

or, equivalently, the limit as $t_{\nu} \to 0$ of

(4.14)
$$q^{-(b_{-},\rho_{k})} \Gamma_{-\rho_{k}}(w^{-1}(E_{b}^{*})) \zeta_{w} \text{ for all } w \in W.$$

Using (2.15) and Proposition 2.4.4, one sees that this limit exists and has the form $a_{b,w} X_{-b-} \zeta_w$ for $a_{b,w}$ as claimed. By (2.15), $\overline{E_b^*} = (\overline{E}_b^{\dagger})^*$. Hence Corollary 2.4.5 implies that $a_{b,w} \in \mathbb{Z}[q]$.

REMARK. Alternatively, one can set

$$G'(X,\Lambda) = G(X,\Lambda) \frac{\widetilde{\gamma}(X)q^{\frac{(x,x)}{2}}}{\widetilde{\gamma}(q^{\rho_k})q^{\frac{(\rho_k,\rho_k)}{2}}}, \quad \Omega'(X,\Lambda) = RE^{\delta}(G'(X,\Lambda)),$$

and take $\Re k_{\nu} \to \infty$ for complex k_{ν} . Then $\widetilde{\gamma}_x q^{\frac{(x,x)}{2}} \Omega(X,\Lambda) = \Omega'(X,\Lambda)$. Using G' instead of G somewhat simplifies the calculation of the limit and does not influence the corresponding operators acting on this function (which are studied below), since $\widetilde{\gamma}_x q^{\frac{(x,x)}{2}}$ is \widehat{W} -invariant.

4.4. Main theorem

We now come to our main result, a counterpart of Theorem 3.2.1 for the global nonsymmetric Whittaker function $\Omega(X, \Lambda)$. Recall the definition of the algebra $\dot{\mathcal{H}}$ from Definition 2.4.1 and the anti-involution φ from (1.39).

THEOREM 4.4.1. (i) The operators $RE^{\delta}(H^{\varphi})$ acting in $\mathcal{F}(W, \mathcal{V})$ are well defined for $H \in \dot{\mathcal{H}}$. For instance, the following operators are well defined:

(4.15)
$$\widehat{Y}_b := RE^{\delta}(Y_b), \quad \widehat{X}_b := RE^{\delta}(\widetilde{X}_b) \quad for \quad \widetilde{X}_b := \overset{\circ}{Y}_{-b}^{\varphi} = t^{(b_+,\rho^{\vee})}X_b,$$
$$\widehat{T}_i := RE^{\delta}(\overset{\circ}{T}_i) \quad for \quad i > 0, \quad \widehat{T}_0 := RE^{\delta}(\overset{\circ}{T}_0^{\varphi}), \quad \widehat{\pi}_r := RE^{\delta}(\pi_r^{\varphi}) \quad for \quad r \in O'.$$

(ii) The function $\Omega(X, \Lambda)$ satisfies

(4.16)
$$\widehat{\pi}_r(\Omega(X,\Lambda)) = \pi_r^\lambda(\Omega(X,\Lambda)) \quad for \ r \in O,$$

(4.17)
$$\widehat{T}_i(\Omega(X,\Lambda)) = T_i^{\lambda}(\Omega(X,\Lambda)) \quad for \ \ 0 \le i \le n,$$

and the following relations corresponding to (3.10):

(4.18)
$$\widehat{Y}_a(\Omega(X,\Lambda)) = \Lambda_a^{-1}\Omega(X,\Lambda) \text{ and } \overline{Y}_a^\lambda(\Omega(X,\Lambda)) = \widehat{X}_{-a}\Omega(X,\Lambda) \text{ for } a \in P.$$

(iii) Let $f(q^{\tilde{c}}) := f_{u_c^{-1}}(q^{c_-})$ for any $f = \sum_{w \in W} f_w \zeta_w$ and $c \in P$. Then

(4.19)
$$\Omega(q^{\widetilde{c}}, \Lambda) = \overline{E}_c(\Lambda) \prod_{i=1}^n \prod_{j=1}^\infty \frac{1}{1 - q_i^j}$$

Equivalently, one has (where $x^2 = (x, x)$)

7

(4.20)
$$\sum_{b\in P} q^{(b_--c_-)^2/2} \frac{\overline{E}_b(\Lambda)}{\langle \overline{E}_b, \overline{E}_b \rangle} a_{b,u_c^{-1}} = \widetilde{\gamma}_\lambda \overline{E}_c(\Lambda) \prod_{i=1}^n \prod_{j=1}^\infty \frac{1}{1-q_i^j}.$$

PROOF. Chapter 5 is devoted to a direct and constructive proof of (i). We also sketch an indirect proof of (i) in the remark below. Assuming that (i) holds, (ii) and (iii) are direct consequences of Theorem 3.2.1 and Proposition 4.3.1. For (iii), one uses the formula for $E_b(q^{-\rho_k})$ from [11, (3.3.16)].

We call the operators \widehat{Y}_b $(b \in P)$ the Toda-Dunkl operators.

REMARK. The existence of $\Omega(X, \Lambda)$, which was demonstrated in Proposition 4.3.1, provides an indirect proof of Theorem 4.4.1(*i*). Let us sketch this argument for the operator \widehat{Y}_b . One uses (3.10) as follows:

(4.21)
$$Y_b(q^{\frac{(c_b,c_b)}{2}-(\rho_k,\rho_k)}E_c^*(X)(\widetilde{\gamma}_x)^{-1}) = \langle Y_b(G(X,\Lambda))E_c^*(\Lambda)\widetilde{\gamma}_\lambda\,\mu_\circ(\Lambda)\rangle,$$
$$= \langle \Lambda_b^{-1}G(X,\Lambda)E_c^*(\Lambda)\widetilde{\gamma}_\lambda\,\mu_\circ(\Lambda)\rangle.$$

Applying \varkappa^{δ} and taking $t_{\nu} \to 0$, the right-hand side of (4.21) is well defined. It follows that the action of $RE^{\delta}(Y_b)$ is well defined on

$$RE^{\delta}(q^{-(c_{-},\rho_{k})-\frac{(\rho_{k},\rho_{k})}{2}}E_{c}^{*}(X)(\widetilde{\gamma}_{x})^{-1}) = \left(\sum_{w} a_{c,w} X_{-c_{-}} \zeta_{w}\right)(\widetilde{\gamma}_{x})^{-1}$$

In general, one obtains that the action of the operators from (i) are well defined when they are applied to linear combinations of $X_b \zeta_w (\tilde{\gamma}_x)^{-1}$ for regular $b \in P_+$ and $w \in W$. The operators $\varkappa^{\delta}(H^{\varphi})$ for $H \in \dot{\mathcal{H}}$ have rational coefficients; nevertheless, this property is sufficient to see that their coefficients are well defined in the limit $t_{\nu} \to 0$.

4.5. Symmetrization

The symmetric Whittaker function $\mathcal{W}(X,\Lambda)$ from (3.17) is the symmetrization of $\Omega(X,\Lambda)$. More precisely, one has

(4.22)
$$\delta(\mathcal{W}(X,\Lambda)) = \sum_{w \in W} \widehat{T}_w(\Omega(X,\Lambda)) = \sum_{w \in W} \overline{T}_w(\Omega(X,\Lambda)).$$

In particular, all W-components of the right-hand side coincide; see also (5.26) below. Explicitly, one has

$$\mathcal{W}(X,\Lambda) = \frac{\widetilde{\gamma}(1)}{\widetilde{\gamma}_x \,\widetilde{\gamma}_\lambda} \, \sum_{b \in P_-} q^{(b,b)/2} \, \frac{X_b^{-1} \,\overline{E}_b(\Lambda)}{\prod_{i=1}^n \prod_{j=1}^{-(\alpha_i^{\vee},b)} (1-q_i^j)}$$

We recall that \overline{E}_b is W-invariant¹ for $b \in P_-$, by Proposition 2.4.3.

For $c \in P_{-}$, one has

$$\mathcal{W}(q^c,\Lambda) = \overline{E}_c(\Lambda) \prod_{i=1}^n \prod_{j=1}^\infty \frac{1}{1-q_i^j}$$

which is equivalent to

(4.23)
$$\sum_{b \in P_{-}} \frac{q^{(b-c)^2/2} \overline{E}_b(\Lambda)}{\prod_{i=1}^n \prod_{j=1}^{-(\alpha_i^{\vee}, b)} (1-q_i^j)} = \widetilde{\gamma}_{\lambda} \overline{E}_c(\Lambda) \prod_{i=1}^n \prod_{j=1}^\infty \frac{1}{1-q_i^j}$$

¹ For $b \in P_{-}$, \overline{E}_b coincides with the symmetric Macdonald polynomial $P_b(t_{\nu} = 0)$.

We observe that formula (4.23) results from (4.20). Indeed, when $c \in P_{-}$, one has $u_c = id$ and the coefficient $a_{b,u_c^{-1}}$ is nonzero only for $b \in P_{-}$; in this case, one has $a_{b,id} = 1$ and hence the summation in (4.23) ranges over $b \in P_{-}$.

CHAPTER 5

Toda-Dunkl operators

Our main aim in this chapter is to provide a direct and constructive proof of the existence of the operators from Theorem 4.4.1. We also consider symmetrizations of the Toda-Dunkl operators. In Proposition 5.4.1, we show that these symmetrizations coincide with RE limits of the symmetric operators L_f from (1.48). Finally, at the end of the chapter we provide some explicit examples of the Toda-Dunkl operators for the root systems A_1, A_2 , and B_2 .

5.1. Preparations

Recall the explicit description of Y_b in terms of $G_{\tilde{\alpha}}^{\pm}$ given by (1.43), (1.44), and (1.45). Recall that $\ddot{G}_{\tilde{\alpha}}^{\pm} := t_{\tilde{\alpha}}^{1/2} G_{\tilde{\alpha}}^{\pm}$ and

(5.1)
$$\ddot{Y}_b = \Gamma_{-b} \, \ddot{G}_{\tilde{\alpha}^l}^{\operatorname{sgn}(\epsilon_l)} \cdots \ddot{G}_{\tilde{\alpha}^1}^{\operatorname{sgn}(\epsilon_1)},$$

where the ϵ_p are given by (1.35).

Given $u \in W$ and a reduced expression $u = s_{j_l} \cdots s_{j_1}$, form $\lambda(u) = \{\alpha^1, \ldots, \alpha^l\}$ using (1.20) and write $s^i = s_{\alpha^i}$. We will consider products of the form

(5.2)
$$\varkappa^{\delta}(\ddot{G}^{+}_{\pm\alpha^{p}}\cdots\ddot{G}^{+}_{\pm\alpha^{r}}), \text{ for } 1 \le r \le p \le l,$$

and similar products for \ddot{G}_{α}^{-} . We expand such products by choosing from each \ddot{G}_{α}^{\pm} either f_{α} or $g_{\alpha} s_{\alpha}$.

For any $f \in \mathcal{F}(W, \mathbb{Q}_{q,t}(X))$, $w \in W$, and $\nu \in \nu_R$, we define $\operatorname{ord}_w^{\nu}(f)$ to be the order of the *w*-component f_w with respect to t_{ν} . For instance, if $\widetilde{\alpha} = [\alpha, \nu_{\alpha} j]$, then

(5.3)
$$\operatorname{ord}_{w}^{\nu}(\varkappa^{\delta}(f_{\widetilde{\alpha}})) = \begin{cases} 0, & \text{if } w^{-1}(\alpha) > 0, \\ \delta_{\nu,\nu_{\alpha}}, & \text{if } w^{-1}(\alpha) < 0, \end{cases}$$

(5.4)
$$\operatorname{ord}_{w}^{\nu}(\varkappa^{\delta}(g_{\widetilde{\alpha}})) = \begin{cases} 0, & \text{if } w^{-1}(\alpha) > 0, \\ -(\rho_{\nu}^{\vee}, w^{-1}(\alpha)), & \text{if } w^{-1}(\alpha) < 0. \end{cases}$$

The second line in (5.3) follows from the fact that $(\rho_{\nu}^{\vee}, w^{-1}(\alpha)) \neq 0$ for all $w \in W$ provided $\nu = \nu_{\alpha}$.

For any $f, g \in \mathcal{F}(W, \mathbb{Q}_{q,t}(X))$ and $w, v \in W$, one has

(5.5)
$$\operatorname{ord}_{w}^{\nu}(fg) = \operatorname{ord}_{w}^{\nu}(f) + \operatorname{ord}_{w}^{\nu}(g),$$

(5.6)
$$\operatorname{ord}_{w}^{\nu}(\delta(v)f) = \operatorname{ord}_{v^{-1}w}^{\nu}(f),$$

due to (4.1).

For $f \in \mathcal{F}(W, \mathbb{Q}_{q,t}(X))$ and $w, v \in W$, we define

(5.7)
$$\operatorname{ord}_{w}^{\nu}(f v) := \operatorname{ord}_{w}^{\nu}(f), \quad \operatorname{ord}_{w}^{\nu}(v f) := \operatorname{ord}_{w}^{\nu}(f).$$

The following proposition will be our main tool in the proof of the existence of the Toda-Dunkl operators \widehat{Y}_b .

PROPOSITION 5.1.1. Let $u \in W$, choose a reduced expression $u = s_{j_l} \cdots s_{j_1}$, and let $1 \leq r \leq p \leq l$.

(i) The $\operatorname{ord}_{w}^{\nu}$ of any product in the expansion of $\varkappa^{\delta}(\ddot{G}_{\alpha^{p}}^{+}\cdots\ddot{G}_{\alpha^{r}}^{+})$ is bounded below by $\operatorname{ord}_{w}^{\nu}(\varkappa^{\delta}(f_{\alpha^{p}}\cdots f_{\alpha^{r}})).$

(ii) The $\operatorname{ord}_{w}^{\nu}$ of any product in the expansion of $\varkappa^{\delta}(\ddot{G}_{-\alpha^{r}}^{+}\cdots\ddot{G}_{-\alpha^{p}}^{+})$ is bounded below by $\operatorname{ord}_{w}^{\nu}(\varkappa^{\delta}(f_{-\alpha^{r}}\cdots f_{-\alpha^{p}})).$ (iii) The ford^{ν} of any product in the expansion of $\varkappa^{\delta}(\ddot{G}_{\alpha^{p}}^{-}\cdots\ddot{G}_{\alpha^{r}}^{-})$ is bounded below by $\operatorname{ord}_{w}^{\nu}(\varkappa^{\delta}(f_{\alpha^{p}}\cdots f_{\alpha^{r}})).$

(iv) The ford^{\nu}_w of any product in the expansion of $\varkappa^{\delta}(\ddot{G}_{-\alpha^r}^-\cdots\ddot{G}_{-\alpha^p}^-)$ is bounded below by $\operatorname{ord}_w^{\nu}(\varkappa^{\delta}(f_{-\alpha^r}\cdots f_{-\alpha^p})).$

PROOF. We will prove (i) only; the other statements can be proved by similar arguments. The proof is based on the following lemma.

LEMMA 5.1.2. Let $u \in W$ and choose a reduced expression $u = s_{j_l} \cdots s_{j_1}$. Then for any $l \ge i \ge r \ge 1$, one has

(5.8)
$$\operatorname{ord}_{w}^{\nu}(\varkappa^{\delta}(g_{\alpha^{i}}f_{s^{i}(\alpha^{i-1})}\cdots f_{s^{i}(\alpha^{r})})) \ge \operatorname{ord}_{w}^{\nu}(\varkappa^{\delta}(f_{\alpha^{i}}\cdots f_{\alpha^{r}})), \quad where \quad s^{i} := s_{\alpha^{i}}.$$

PROOF OF LEMMA 5.1.2. Write $\alpha = \alpha^i$ (so $s_\alpha = s^i$) and take $\beta = \alpha^k$ for any $i > k \ge r$. Using (5.3), one has

$$\operatorname{ord}_w^{\nu}(\varkappa^{\delta}(f_{\beta})) \leq \operatorname{ord}_w^{\nu}(\varkappa^{\delta}(f_{s_{\alpha}(\beta)}))$$

unless

(5.9)
$$\nu = \nu_{\beta}, \quad w^{-1}(\beta) < 0, \text{ and } w^{-1}(s_{\alpha}(\beta)) > 0.$$

An equivalent description of (5.9) is

(5.10)
$$\operatorname{ord}_{w}^{\nu}(\varkappa^{\delta}(f_{\beta})) = 1 \text{ and } \operatorname{ord}_{w}^{\nu}(\varkappa^{\delta}(f_{s_{\alpha}(\beta)})) = 0,$$

Assuming (5.9) holds, there are two cases to consider: either $w^{-1}(\alpha) > 0$ or $w^{-1}(\alpha) < 0$.

Suppose $w^{-1}(\alpha) > 0$. Then $\operatorname{ord}_{w}^{\nu}(\varkappa^{\delta}(g_{\alpha})) = \operatorname{ord}_{w}^{\nu}(\varkappa^{\delta}(f_{\alpha})) = 0$. If (5.10) occurs, then one must have $(\beta, \alpha) < 0$. Hence $s_{\alpha}(\beta)$ belongs to $\lambda(u)$ and by Lemma 1.2.1, one has $s_{\alpha}(\beta) = \alpha^{j}$ where i > j > k. Therefore, the application of s_{α} to the product $f_{\alpha^{i-1}} \cdots f_{\alpha^{r}}$ reverses the positions of the factors $f_{s_{\alpha}(\beta)}$ and f_{β} for all pairs $\{\beta, s_{\alpha}(\beta)\}$, where β satisfies (5.10); the $\operatorname{ord}_{w}^{\nu}$ of any other factors in this product can only increase upon the application of s_{α} . This proves (5.8) when $w^{-1}(\alpha) > 0$. It remains to consider the case when $w^{-1}(\alpha) < 0$. We note that $w^{-1}(s_{\alpha}(\beta)) = s_{w^{-1}(\alpha)}(w^{-1}(\beta))$. By (1.26), one has

(5.11)
$$l_{\nu}(s_{w^{-1}(\alpha)}) \leq -2(\rho_{\nu}^{\vee}, w^{-1}(\alpha)) - \delta_{\nu,\nu_{\alpha}}.$$

(The only case when (5.11) is not an equality is $\nu_{\alpha} = \nu_{\text{lng}}$ and $\nu = \nu_{\text{sht}}$.) Combining this with (5.4) and (5.3) yields

(5.12)
$$\operatorname{ord}_{w}^{\nu}(\varkappa^{\delta}(g_{\alpha})) \ge \operatorname{ord}_{w}^{\nu}(\varkappa^{\delta}(f_{\alpha})) + \frac{l_{\nu}(s_{w^{-1}(\alpha)}) - \delta_{\nu,\nu_{\alpha}}}{2}.$$

Using Lemma 1.2.1(ii), one sees that

$$\frac{l_{\nu}(s_{w^{-1}(\alpha)}) - \delta_{\nu,\nu_{\alpha}}}{2}$$

is the maximum possible number of β satisfying (5.9). In other words, (5.12) compensates for all drops in the order coming from (5.10) when applying s_{α} to the product $f_{\alpha^{i-1}} \cdots f_{\alpha^r}$. This establishes (5.8).

Now we return to the proof of Proposition 5.1.1(*i*). We argue by induction on the number of factors of the form $g_{\alpha} s_{\alpha}$ chosen to form a particular product in the expansion—the base case being the product when no such factors are chosen, i.e., $\mathcal{P}^{\emptyset} := \varkappa^{\delta}(f_{\alpha^{p}} \cdots f_{\alpha^{r}})$.

Let us first consider some particular cases. Suppose that just one factor of the form $g_{\alpha} s_{\alpha}$, say $g_{\alpha^i} s^i$, is chosen. In other words, take the product

$$\mathcal{P}^i := \varkappa^{\delta} (f_{\alpha^p} \cdots f_{\alpha^{i+1}} g_{\alpha^i} s^i f_{\alpha^{i-1}} \cdots f_{\alpha^r}).$$

Due to (5.7),

$$\operatorname{ord}_{w}^{\nu}(\mathcal{P}^{i}) = \operatorname{ord}_{w}^{\nu}(\varkappa^{\delta}(f_{\alpha^{p}}\cdots f_{\alpha^{i+1}} g_{\alpha^{i}} f_{s^{i}(\alpha^{i-1})}\cdots f_{s^{i}(\alpha^{r})}))$$
$$= \operatorname{ord}_{w}^{\nu}(\varkappa^{\delta}(f_{\alpha^{p}}\cdots f_{\alpha^{i+1}})) + \operatorname{ord}_{w}^{\nu}(\varkappa^{\delta}(g_{\alpha^{i}} f_{s_{\alpha^{i}}(\alpha^{i-1})}\cdots f_{s_{\alpha^{i}}(\alpha^{r})})))$$

Then (5.8) gives $\operatorname{ord}_w^{\nu}(\mathcal{P}^i) \ge \operatorname{ord}_w^{\nu}(\mathcal{P}^{\emptyset})$, as claimed.

Now consider the case when two factors of $g_{\alpha} s_{\alpha}$ are chosen:

(5.13)
$$\mathcal{P}^{ij} := \varkappa^{\delta} (f_{\alpha^p} \cdots f_{\alpha^{i+1}} g_{\alpha^i} s^i f_{\alpha^{i-1}} \cdots f_{\alpha^{j+1}} g_{\alpha^j} s^j f_{\alpha^{j-1}} \cdots f_{\alpha^r}).$$

Due to (5.7),

(5.14)
$$\operatorname{ord}_{w}^{\nu}(\mathcal{P}^{ij}) = \operatorname{ord}_{w}^{\nu}(\varkappa^{\delta}(f_{\alpha^{p}}\cdots f_{\alpha^{i+1}}g_{\alpha^{i}}f_{s^{i}(\alpha^{i-1})}\cdots f_{s^{i}(\alpha^{j+1})}\times g_{s^{i}(\alpha^{j})}f_{s^{i}s^{j}(\alpha^{j-1})}\cdots f_{s^{i}s^{j}(\alpha^{r})})).$$

Apply (5.6) and (5.8) as follows:

$$\operatorname{ord}_{w}^{\nu}(\varkappa^{\delta}(g_{s^{i}(\alpha^{j})} f_{s^{i}s^{j}(\alpha^{j-1})} \cdots f_{s^{i}s^{j}(\alpha^{r})})) = \operatorname{ord}_{s^{i}w}^{\nu}(\varkappa^{\delta}(g_{\alpha^{j}} f_{s^{j}(\alpha^{j-1})} \cdots f_{s^{j}(\alpha^{r})})))$$
$$\geq \operatorname{ord}_{s^{i}w}^{\nu}(\varkappa^{\delta}(f_{\alpha^{j}} f_{\alpha^{j-1}} \cdots f_{\alpha^{r}})) = \operatorname{ord}_{w}^{\nu}(\varkappa^{\delta}(f_{s^{i}(\alpha^{j})} f_{s^{i}(\alpha^{j-1})} \cdots f_{s^{i}(\alpha^{r})})).$$

Returning to (5.14), one then has

(5.15)
$$\operatorname{ord}_{w}^{\nu}(\mathcal{P}^{ij}) \geq \operatorname{ord}_{w}^{\nu}(\varkappa^{\delta}(f_{\alpha^{p}}\cdots f_{\alpha^{i+1}}g_{\alpha^{i}}f_{s^{i}(\alpha^{i-1})}\cdots f_{s^{i}(\alpha^{r})}))$$
$$= \operatorname{ord}_{w}^{\nu}(\mathcal{P}^{i}) \geq \operatorname{ord}_{w}^{\nu}(\mathcal{P}^{\emptyset}).$$

In general, for any decreasing sequence $p \ge i_1 > i_2 > \cdots > i_m \ge r$, we set

$$\mathcal{P}^{i_1\dots i_m} := \varkappa^\delta(h_p\cdots h_r),$$

where $h_i = g_{\alpha^i} s^i$ whenever $i \in \{i_1, \ldots, i_m\}$ and $h_i = f_{\alpha^i}$ otherwise. The same reasoning used to arrive at (5.15) shows that

(5.16)
$$\operatorname{ord}_{w}^{\nu}(\mathcal{P}^{i_{1}\dots i_{m}}) \ge \operatorname{ord}_{w}^{\nu}(\mathcal{P}^{i_{1}\dots i_{m-1}}),$$

which gives the induction step.

5.2. Limits of Dunkl operators

Now we are ready to prove the existence of the Toda-Dunkl operators.

THEOREM 5.2.1. The operators $\widehat{Y}_b = RE^{\delta}(Y_b)$ exist for all $b \in P$.

PROOF. We will break the proof into steps, proving that \widehat{Y}_b exists for the following choices of b:

- (1) $b = \omega_r \ (r \in O'),$
- (2) b equal to a short positive root,
- (3) $b = -\omega_r \ (r \in O'),$
- (4) b equal to a short negative root.

These steps are sufficient to prove the theorem, because P is generated by Q together with the minuscule weights, and Q is generated by the short roots. For a proof of the latter assertion, see [26, Exercise 6.9].

For (1) and (2), we consider first any $b \in P_+$. Write $b = \pi_r \widetilde{w} = \pi_r s_{j_l} \cdots s_{j_1}$ (l = l(b))in \widehat{W} and form $\widetilde{\alpha}^p$ $(1 \le p \le l)$ from (1.20). Since $b \in P_+$, one has $l_\nu(b) = 2(b, \rho_\nu^{\vee})$ and $Y_b = T_b = \pi_r T_{j_l} \cdots T_{j_1}$. Hence $Y_b = q^{-(b, \rho_k)} \Gamma_{-b} \ddot{G}^+_{\widetilde{\alpha}^l} \cdots \ddot{G}^+_{\widetilde{\alpha}^1}$. Using (4.8), we can write

$$\varkappa^{\delta}(Y_b) = \sum_{w \in W} q^{-(b, \rho_k - w(\rho_k))} \Gamma_{-w^{-1}(b)} \zeta_w \varkappa^{\delta} (\ddot{G}^+_{\widetilde{\alpha}^l} \cdots \ddot{G}^+_{\widetilde{\alpha}^1}).$$

We claim that

(5.17)
$$\xi^{\delta}(Y_b) := \sum_{w \in W} q^{-(b, \rho_k - w(\rho_k))} \Gamma_{-w^{-1}(b)} \zeta_w \varkappa^{\delta}(f_{\widetilde{\alpha}^l} \cdots f_{\widetilde{\alpha}^1})$$

is regular at $t_{\nu} = 0$ for any $b \in P_+$. Indeed, one has

$$q^{-(b,\,\rho_k - w(\rho_k))} = \prod_{\nu} t_{\nu}^{-(b,\,\rho_{\nu}^{\vee} - w(\rho_{\nu}^{\vee}))}$$

and the exponents $(b, \rho_{\nu}^{\vee} - w(\rho_{\nu}^{\vee}))$ count the number of $\tilde{\alpha} = [\alpha, \nu_{\alpha} j] \in \lambda_{\nu}(b)$ such that $w^{-1}(\alpha) < 0$. This follows from (1.21) and the following counterpart of (1.27):

(5.18)
$$\rho_{\nu}^{\vee} - w(\rho_{\nu}^{\vee}) = \sum_{\alpha \in \lambda_{\nu}(w^{-1})} \alpha^{\vee}$$

Hence the regularity of $\xi^{\delta}(Y_b)$ is immediate from (5.3).

(1) Let $b = \omega_r$ for $r \in O'$; recall that $\omega_r = \pi_r u_r$. Using Proposition 5.1.1, where we take $u = u_r$, the regularity of $\varkappa^{\delta}(Y_{\omega_r})$ follows from that of $\xi^{\delta}(Y_{\omega_r})$.

(2) Suppose $b = \alpha$ is any short positive root. We use the following lemma.

LEMMA 5.2.2. For any short $\alpha \in R_+$, there exists a reduced expression

$$s_{\vartheta} = s_{j_1} \cdots s_{j_p} s_m s_{j_p} \cdots s_{j_1}$$

such that $\alpha = s_{j_r} \cdots s_{j_1}(\vartheta)$ for some $0 \leq r \leq p$.

PROOF OF LEMMA 5.2.2. We can write $\vartheta = s_{j_1} \cdots s_{j_r}(\alpha)$ by choosing $\alpha_{j_1}, \ldots, \alpha_{j_r}$ such that

$$(s_{j_i}\cdots s_{j_r}(\alpha),\alpha_{j_{i+1}}^{\vee})<0, \quad 1\le i\le r.$$

Here we are using the characterization of ϑ as the unique short root lying in P_+ . If $\beta \in R_+$ is not a simple root, then $0 < s_i(\beta) < \beta$ for at least one *i*. Thus we can find $\alpha_{j_{r+1}}, \dots, \alpha_{j_p}$ and α_m such that $\alpha = s_{j_{r+1}} \dots s_{j_p}(\alpha_m)$ and

(5.19)
$$(s_{j_{i+1}} \cdots s_{j_p}(\alpha_m), \alpha_{j_i}^{\vee}) = -1, \quad 1 \le i \le p.$$

These inner products must equal -1 because α_m is short. Hence $\vartheta = s_{j_1} \cdots s_{j_p}(\alpha_m)$ and $p \leq (\vartheta, \rho^{\vee}) - 1$. The expression $s_{\vartheta} = s_{j_1} \cdots s_{j_p} s_m s_{j_p} \cdots s_{j_1}$ must be reduced, because

$$l(s_{\vartheta}) = l(\vartheta) - l(s_0) = 2(\vartheta, \rho^{\vee}) - 1;$$

i.e., we must have $p = (\vartheta, \rho^{\vee}) - 1$.

Let $s_{\vartheta} = s_{j_1} \cdots s_{j_p} s_m s_{j_p} \cdots s_{j_1}$ be a reduced expression as in Lemma 5.2.2. Let $l = l(s_{\vartheta}) = 2p + 1$ and construct $\lambda(s_{\vartheta}) = \{\alpha^1, \dots, \alpha^l\}$ using this reduced expression.

Note that
$$\vartheta = s_0 s_\vartheta$$
 and $l(\vartheta) = l(s_\vartheta) + 1$. Accordingly, $\lambda(\vartheta) = \lambda(s_\vartheta) \cup \{[\vartheta, 1]\}.$

Due to (5.19) and (1.34), one has

$$Y_{\alpha} = (T_{j_r}^{-1} \cdots T_{j_1}^{-1}) T_0 (T_{j_1} \cdots T_{j_p} T_m T_{j_p} \cdots T_{j_{r+1}}).$$

Hence, for $v = s_{j_r} \cdots s_{j_1}$, we can write

$$v^{-1}Y_{\alpha}v = q^{-(\vartheta,\rho_k)}\ddot{G}_{\alpha^r}^-\cdots\ddot{G}_{\alpha^1}^-\Gamma_{-\vartheta}\ddot{G}_{[\vartheta,1]}^+\ddot{G}_{\alpha^l}^+\cdots\ddot{G}_{\alpha^{r+1}}^+.$$

We note that by (4.10) one has

$$\varkappa^{\delta}(v^{-1}Y_{\alpha}v) = v^{-1}\varkappa^{\delta}(Y_{\alpha})v$$

Hence it suffices to prove that $\varkappa^{\delta}(v^{-1}Y_{\alpha}v)$ is regular at $t_{\nu} = 0$.

By Proposition 5.1.1(i, iii), it is enough to consider

$$q^{-(\vartheta,\rho_k)}\varkappa^{\delta}(f_{\alpha^r}\cdots f_{\alpha^1}\Gamma_{-\vartheta}\ddot{G}^+_{[\vartheta,1]}f_{\alpha^l}\cdots f_{\alpha^{r+1}}).$$

We expand this product by choosing either $f_{[\vartheta,1]}$ or $g_{[\vartheta,1]} s_{[\vartheta,1]}$ from $\ddot{G}^+_{[\vartheta,1]}$.

Choosing $f_{[\vartheta,1]}$ from $\ddot{G}^+_{[\vartheta,1]}$, we arrive at $\xi^{\delta}(Y_{\vartheta})$, which is known to be regular at $t_{\nu} = 0$. Thus it remains to choose $g_{[\vartheta,1]} s_{[\vartheta,1]}$. This yields

$$q^{-(\vartheta,\,\rho_k)}\varkappa^{\delta}(f_{\alpha^r}\cdots f_{\alpha^1}\,g_{[\vartheta,-1]}\,s_\vartheta\,f_{\alpha^l}\cdots f_{\alpha^{r+1}}),$$

where we have used that $\Gamma_{-\vartheta} g_{[\vartheta,1]} s_{[\vartheta,1]} = g_{[\vartheta,-1]} s_{\vartheta}$. According to (5.7), when calculating $\operatorname{ord}_{w}^{\nu}$, one must move s_{ϑ} to the right:

$$s_{\vartheta}(f_{\alpha^l}\cdots f_{\alpha^{r+1}}) = (f_{-\alpha^1}\cdots f_{-\alpha^{l-r}})s_{\vartheta},$$

where we have used Lemma 1.2.4(iii). By (5.4), we need to show that

(5.20)
$$\operatorname{ord}_{w}^{\nu}(\varkappa^{\delta}(f_{\alpha^{r}}\cdots f_{\alpha^{1}}f_{-\alpha^{1}}\cdots f_{-\alpha^{l-r}})) \geq \begin{cases} (\vartheta,\rho_{\nu}^{\vee}), & \text{if } w^{-1}(\vartheta) > 0, \\ (\vartheta,\rho_{\nu}^{\vee}+w(\rho_{\nu}^{\vee})), & \text{if } w^{-1}(\vartheta) < 0, \end{cases}$$

for any $0 \leq r \leq p$.

To this end, assume first that $w^{-1}(\vartheta) > 0$. Clearly we have (where $\delta_{\nu,\alpha} = \delta_{\nu,\nu_{\alpha}}$)

$$\operatorname{ord}_{w}^{\nu}(\varkappa^{\delta}(f_{\alpha^{r}}\cdots f_{\alpha^{1}}f_{-\alpha^{1}}\cdots f_{-\alpha^{r}})) = \sum_{i=1}^{r} \delta_{\nu,\alpha^{i}}.$$

For the remaining factors in the left-hand side of (5.20), one has

$$\operatorname{ord}_{w}^{\nu}(\varkappa^{\delta}(f_{-\alpha^{r+1}}\cdots f_{-\alpha^{l-r}})) \geq \delta_{\nu,\vartheta} + \sum_{i=r+1}^{p} \delta_{\nu,\alpha^{i}}.$$

This can be seen as follows. First, $\alpha^{p+1} = \vartheta$ and hence, by (5.3), $\operatorname{ord}_{w}^{\nu}(\varkappa^{\delta}(f_{-\alpha^{p+1}})) = \delta_{\nu,\vartheta}$. Second, for each $r+1 \leq i \leq p$, at least one of $w^{-1}(\alpha^{i})$ or $w^{-1}(\alpha^{l-i+1})$ must be positive. This follows from Lemma 1.2.1(*ii*), Lemma 1.2.4(*iii*), and the assumption $w^{-1}(\vartheta) > 0$. Therefore, altogether one has

(5.21)
$$\operatorname{ord}_{w}^{\nu}(\varkappa^{\delta}(f_{\alpha^{r}}\cdots f_{\alpha^{1}}f_{-\alpha^{1}}\cdots f_{-\alpha^{l-r}})) \geq \delta_{\nu,\vartheta} + \sum_{i=1}^{p} \delta_{\nu,\alpha^{i}}.$$

Finally, using Lemma 1.2.4(*i*), one finds that the right-hand side of (5.21) is exactly $(\vartheta, \rho_{\nu}^{\vee})$.

Now assume $w^{-1}(\vartheta) < 0$. One has

(5.22)
$$\operatorname{ord}_{w}^{\nu}(\varkappa^{\delta}(f_{-\alpha^{1}}\cdots f_{-\alpha^{l-r}})) = \sum_{\substack{1 \le i \le l-r \\ w^{-1}(\alpha^{i}) > 0}} \delta_{\nu,\alpha^{i}}$$

and

(5.23)
$$\operatorname{ord}_{w}^{\nu}(\varkappa^{\delta}(f_{\alpha^{r}}\cdots f_{\alpha^{1}})) = \sum_{\substack{1 \le i \le r\\ w^{-1}(\alpha^{i}) < 0}} \delta_{\nu,\alpha^{i}} \ge \sum_{\substack{l-r+1 \le i \le l\\ w^{-1}(\alpha^{i}) > 0}} \delta_{\nu,\alpha^{i}}.$$

The inequality in (5.23) follows from Lemma 1.2.1(*ii*), Lemma 1.2.4(*iii*), and the assumption that $w^{-1}(\vartheta) < 0$. In particular, if $w^{-1}(\alpha^{l-i+1}) > 0$ for $1 \le i \le p$, then necessarily $w^{-1}(\alpha^i) < 0$. Putting (5.22) and (5.23) together, one has

$$\operatorname{ord}_{w}^{\nu}(\varkappa^{\delta}(f_{\alpha^{r}}\cdots f_{\alpha^{1}}f_{-\alpha^{1}}\cdots f_{-\alpha^{l-r}})) \geq \sum_{\substack{1\leq i\leq l\\ w^{-1}(\alpha^{i})>0}} \delta_{\nu,\alpha^{i}}.$$

Finally, to get (5.20), we observe that

(5.24)
$$\rho_{\nu}^{\vee} + w(\rho_{\nu}^{\vee}) = \sum_{\substack{\alpha > 0, \, \nu_{\alpha} = \nu \\ w^{-1}(\alpha) > 0}} \alpha^{\vee}$$

and consequently $(\vartheta, \rho_{\nu}^{\vee} + w(\rho_{\nu}^{\vee}))$ is exactly the number of $\widetilde{\alpha} \in \lambda_{\nu}(\vartheta)$ with $w^{-1}(\alpha) > 0$. Note that since $w^{-1}(\vartheta) < 0$, such $\widetilde{\alpha}$ must belong to $\lambda_{\nu}(s_{\vartheta}) \setminus \{\vartheta\}$.

This completes the proof of (5.20) and hence the proof of (2) as well.

REMARK. The relation $T_i^{-1}Y_bT_i^{-1} = Y_{s_i(b)}$ from (1.34), which was used at the beginning of (2), is valid only when $(b, \alpha_i^{\vee}) = 1$. In particular, it does not hold for $b = \alpha_m$ and i = m. In this case,

(5.25)
$$T_m^{-1}Y_{\alpha_m}T_m^{-1} = Y_{\alpha_m}^{-1} + (t_m^{1/2} - t_m^{-1/2})T_m^{-1}.$$

One cannot use (5.25) to pass from Y_{α_m} to $Y_{\alpha_m}^{-1}$ in a way that is compatible with the limit $t_{\nu} \to 0$. Nevertheless, we can reach $Y_{\alpha_m}^{-1}$, along with all the operators corresponding to negative short roots, by starting from Y_{ϑ}^{-1} . This is carried out in (4) below.

Before (3) and (4), let us make some general remarks about Y_{-b} for arbitrary $b \in P_+$. Write $b = \pi_r s_{j_l} \cdots s_{j_1}$ (l = l(b)) and construct $\lambda(b) = \{\widetilde{\alpha}^1, \cdots, \widetilde{\alpha}^l\}$ using this reduced expression. Then $(-b) = \pi_r^{-1} s_{\pi_r(j_1)} \cdots s_{\pi_r(j_l)}$, which is a reduced expression.

For $1 \leq p \leq l$, let

$$\widetilde{\beta}^p = -b(\widetilde{\alpha}^{l-p+1}) = s_{\pi_r(j_l)} \cdots s_{\pi_r(j_{l-p+2})}(\alpha_{\pi_r(j_{l-p+1})}),$$

so that $\lambda(-b) = \{\widetilde{\beta}^1, \cdots, \widetilde{\beta}^l\}$. We can write

$$Y_{-b} = q^{-(b,\rho_k)} \Gamma_b \, \ddot{G}^-_{\widetilde{\beta}^l} \cdots \ddot{G}^-_{\widetilde{\beta}^1} = \ddot{G}^-_{-\widetilde{\alpha}^1} \cdots \ddot{G}^-_{-\widetilde{\alpha}^l} \, q^{-(b,\rho_k)} \, \Gamma_b.$$

Hence

$$\varkappa^{\delta}(Y_{-b}) = \varkappa^{\delta}(\ddot{G}_{-\tilde{\alpha}^{1}}^{-}\cdots\ddot{G}_{-\tilde{\alpha}^{l}}^{-})\sum_{w\in W} q^{-(b,\,\rho_{k}+w(\rho_{k}))}\,\Gamma_{w^{-1}(b)}\,\zeta_{w}.$$

We claim that

$$\xi^{\delta}(Y_{-b}) := \varkappa^{\delta}(f_{-\widetilde{\alpha}^{1}} \cdots f_{-\widetilde{\alpha}^{l}}) \sum_{w \in W} q^{-(b, \rho_{k} + w(\rho_{k}))} \Gamma_{w^{-1}(b)} \zeta_{w}.$$

is regular at $t_{\nu} = 0$. The proof is similar to that for $\xi^{\delta}(Y_b)$ from (5.17) that was given before step (1). One uses (5.24) instead of (5.18).

(3) In the case of $b = \omega_r$ $(r \in O')$, the regularity of $\varkappa^{\delta}(Y_{-b})$ is immediate from that of $\xi^{\delta}(Y_{-b})$, due to Proposition 5.1.1(*ii*).

(4) For *b* equal to any negative short root $-\alpha$ ($\alpha \in R_+$), the proof is similar to (2). Use Lemma 5.2.2 to choose a reduced expression $s_{\vartheta} = s_{j_1} \cdots s_{j_p} s_m s_{j_p} \cdots s_{j_1}$ such that

$$s_{j_r}\cdots s_{j_1}(-\vartheta)=-\alpha$$

for some $0 \le r \le p$. Then, starting from $Y_{\vartheta}^{-1} = T_{s_{\vartheta}}^{-1}T_0^{-1}$, we use (5.19) and (1.34) to get

$$Y_{s_{j_1}(\vartheta)}^{-1} = T_{j_1} Y_{\vartheta}^{-1} T_{j_1}, \quad Y_{s_{j_2} s_{j_1}(\vartheta)}^{-1} = T_{j_2} T_{j_1} Y_{\vartheta}^{-1} T_{j_1} T_{j_2}, \quad \dots \quad ,$$

$$Y_{\alpha}^{-1} = T_{j_r} \cdots T_{j_1} Y_{\vartheta}^{-1} T_{j_1} \cdots T_{j_r}.$$

Then the regularity of $\varkappa^{\delta}(Y_{-\alpha})$ can be shown using Proposition 5.1.1(*ii*, *iv*) as in (2).

The proof of Theorem 5.2.1 is now complete.

5.3. Remaining operators

We consider the remaining operators from Theorem 4.4.1(i).

PROPOSITION 5.3.1. (i) The operator $\widehat{T}_i = RE^{\delta}(\ddot{T}_i^{\varphi})$ exists for $i = 0, \ldots, n$. Moreover,

(5.26)
$$\widehat{T}_i = R E^{\delta}(\ddot{T}_i) = \sum_{\substack{w \in W \text{ s.t.} \\ w^{-1}(\alpha_i) < 0}} \zeta_w\left(s_i - 1\right) \text{ for } i > 0.$$

(ii) For any $b \in P$,

(5.27)
$$\widehat{X}_b = RE^{\delta}(\widetilde{X}_b) = \sum_{\substack{w \in W \text{ s.t.} \\ w^{-1}(b) = b_+}} X_{b_+} \zeta_w.$$

(iii) For any $r \in O'$,

(5.28)
$$\widehat{\pi}_{r}^{-1} = RE^{\delta}(\varphi(\pi_{r}^{-1})) = \sum_{w \in W} \left(X_{w^{-1}(\omega_{r})} \prod_{\substack{\alpha \in \lambda(u_{r}) \text{ s.t.} \\ (w^{-1}(\alpha), \rho^{\vee}) = 1}} (1 - X_{w^{-1}(\alpha)}^{-1}) \zeta_{w} \right) u_{r}^{-1} + \sum_{v < u_{r}^{-1}} \left(\sum_{w \in W} f_{v,w} \zeta_{w} \right) v \text{ for certain } f_{v,w} \in \mathbb{Q}_{q}[X].$$

PROOF. (i) Using $\varkappa^{\delta}(s_i) = s_i$ and (4.7), we readily arrive at (5.26) for i > 0. The case of i = 0 is significantly more involved. We have $\varphi(\ddot{T}_0) = t_0^{1/2} T_{s_\vartheta}^{-1} X_\vartheta^{-1}$. Write $s_\vartheta = s_{j_1} \cdots s_{j_1} = s_{j_1} \cdots s_{j_l} \ (l = l(s_\vartheta))$. Let $\alpha^p = s_{j_1} \cdots s_{j_{p-1}}(\alpha_{j_p}) \in \lambda(s_\vartheta)$ for $p = 1, \ldots, l$. Now

(5.29)
$$\ddot{T}_{0}^{\varphi} = t_{0}^{1/2} \prod_{\nu} t_{\nu}^{-l_{\nu}(s_{\vartheta})/2} \ddot{G}_{-\alpha^{1}}^{-} \cdots \ddot{G}_{-\alpha^{l}}^{-} s_{\vartheta} X_{\vartheta}^{-1}.$$

By Lemma 1.2.4(i), one has $l_{\nu}(s_{\vartheta}) = 2(\vartheta, \rho_{\nu}^{\vee}) - \delta_{\nu,\vartheta}$. Hence

$$t_0^{1/2} \prod_{\nu} t_{\nu}^{-l_{\nu}(s_{\vartheta})/2} = \prod_{\nu} t_{\nu}^{-(\vartheta, \, \rho_{\nu}^{\vee}) + \delta_{\nu, \vartheta}}.$$

Returning to (5.29), we have

(5.30)
$$\boldsymbol{\varkappa}^{\delta}(\ddot{T}_{0}^{\varphi}) = \boldsymbol{\varkappa}^{\delta}(\ddot{G}_{-\alpha^{1}}^{-}\cdots\ddot{G}_{-\alpha^{l}}^{-})\sum_{w\in W} t_{\mathrm{sht}} q^{-(\vartheta,\rho_{k}+w(\rho_{k}))} X_{w^{-1}(\vartheta)} \zeta_{w} s_{\vartheta}.$$

By Proposition 5.1.1(iv),

$$\operatorname{vord}_{w}^{\nu}(\varkappa^{\delta}(\ddot{G}_{-\alpha^{1}}^{-}\cdots\ddot{G}_{-\alpha^{l}}^{-})) \geq \operatorname{ord}_{w}^{\nu}(\varkappa^{\delta}(f_{-\alpha^{1}}\cdots f_{-\alpha^{l}})) = \sum_{\alpha\in\lambda(s_{\vartheta})\cap(R_{+}\setminus\lambda(w^{-1}))}\delta_{\alpha,\nu}.$$

The claim now follows from (5.24), the description of the sets $\lambda_{\nu}(\vartheta)$ from (1.21), and $\vartheta = s_0 s_{\vartheta}$. The $t_{\rm sht}$ factor in (5.30) accounts for the case when $w^{-1}(\vartheta) > 0$, because $\lambda(s_{\vartheta}) = \lambda(\vartheta) \setminus \{[\vartheta, 1]\}.$

(*ii*) By definition, $\widetilde{X}_b = q^{(b_+, \rho_k)} X_b$; hence

$$\varkappa^{\delta}(\widetilde{X}_b) = \sum_{w \in W} q^{(b_+ - w^{-1}(b), \rho_k)} X_{w^{-1}(b)} \zeta_w.$$

Now (5.27) follows due to the fact that $b_+ \ge w^{-1}(b)$ for all $w \in W$.

(*iii*) Recall that $\varphi(\pi_r^{-1}) = X_{\omega_r} T_{u_r^{-1}}$. Let $u_r = s_{j_l} \cdots s_{j_1}$ be a reduced decomposition. Construct $\lambda(u_r) = \{\alpha^1, \dots, \alpha^l\}$ using this decomposition. Then

$$\varphi(\pi_r^{-1}) = q^{-(\omega_r, \rho_k)} X_{\omega_r} \ddot{G}_{-\alpha^1}^+ \cdots \ddot{G}_{-\alpha^l}^+ u_r^{-1}.$$

We have used here that $l_{\nu}(u_r) = l_{\nu}(\omega_r) = 2(\omega_r, \rho_{\nu}^{\vee})$. Hence

$$\varkappa^{\delta}(\varphi(\pi_r^{-1})) = \left(\sum_{w \in W} q^{-(\omega_r, \rho_k + w(\rho_k))} X_{w^{-1}(\omega_r)} \zeta_w\right) \varkappa^{\delta}(\ddot{G}^+_{-\alpha^1} \cdots \ddot{G}^+_{-\alpha^l}) u_r^{-1}.$$

Now, by (5.24) and Proposition 5.1.1(*ii*), the limit $RE^{\delta}(\varphi(\pi_r^{-1}))$ exists. Then (5.28) follows readily.

5.4. Symmetrization

Recall the definition of *RE* from (3.15) and the operators \mathcal{L}_f and L_f from (1.48).

PROPOSITION 5.4.1. For any $f \in \ddot{\mathbb{Q}}_{q,t}[X]^W$, one has

(5.31)
$$RE^{\delta}(\mathcal{L}_f) = RE(L_f),$$

upon the restriction to $\mathcal{F}^{\delta}(W,\overline{\mathcal{V}})$, the space of W-invariants of $\mathcal{F}(W,\overline{\mathcal{V}})$.

PROOF. By Proposition 1.3.2, $RE^{\delta}(\mathcal{L}_f)$ commutes with $RE^{\delta}(\ddot{T}_i)$ from (5.26) for all i = 1, ..., n. Now we have the following:

LEMMA 5.4.2. An element $g \in \mathcal{F}(W, \overline{\mathcal{V}})$ belongs to $\mathcal{F}^{\delta}(W, \overline{\mathcal{V}})$ if and only if $\widehat{T}_i(g) = 0$ for all i = 1, ..., n.

PROOF. Applying (5.26) to $g = \sum_{w \in W} g_w \zeta_w$ gives

$$\widehat{T}_i(g) = \sum_{\substack{w \in W \text{ s.t} \\ w^{-1}(\alpha_i) < 0}} (g_{s_i w} - g_w) \zeta_w.$$

This vanishes provided $g_{s_iw} = g_w$ whenever $w^{-1}(\alpha_i) < 0$; but the latter condition is always met by exactly one of w, s_iw .

It follows that $RE^{\delta}(\mathcal{L}_f)$ preserves $\mathcal{F}^{\delta}(W, \overline{\mathcal{V}})$. Therefore, upon the restriction to $\mathcal{F}^{\delta}(W, \overline{\mathcal{V}})$, this operator has the form $\sum_{w \in W} L \zeta_w$ for some fixed difference operator L. By considering the id-component of $RE^{\delta}(\mathcal{L}_f)$ one sees that $L = RE(L_f)$. \Box

5.5. Examples

For the root system A_1 , one has

$$\widehat{Y}_{\omega} = \Gamma^{\varrho}_{-\omega} \Big((\zeta_{\mathrm{id}} + (1 - X^{-1}_{\alpha})\zeta_s) + (-\zeta_{\mathrm{id}} + X^{-1}_{\alpha}\zeta_s) s \Big)$$
$$\widehat{Y}_{\omega}^{-1} = \widehat{Y}_{-\omega} = \Big((1 - X^{-1}_{\alpha})\zeta_{\mathrm{id}} + \zeta_s \Big) \Gamma^{\varrho}_{\omega} + \Big(\zeta_{\mathrm{id}} - X^{-1}_{\alpha}\zeta_s \Big) \Gamma^{\varrho}_{-\omega} s$$

in terms of the fundamental weight ω and corresponding simple root α and simple reflection s. See (4.5) for the definition of Γ_b^{ϱ} . Upon the restriction to $\mathcal{F}^{\delta}(W, \overline{\mathcal{V}})$,

$$\widehat{Y}_{\omega} + \widehat{Y}_{\omega}^{-1} = \left((1 - X_{\alpha}^{-1}) \Gamma_{\omega} + \Gamma_{-\omega} \right),$$

which is a special case of Proposition 5.4.1. See [15] and [16, 17] for a complete treatment of the rank-one case, including a construction of the Toda-Dunkl operators in terms of (sub-)induced nil-DAHA module in [17].

For the root system A_2 , one has

$$\begin{split} \widehat{Y}_{\omega_{1}} &= \Gamma^{\varrho}_{-\omega_{1}} \Big(\\ (\zeta_{\mathrm{id}} + (1 - X_{\alpha_{1}}^{-1})\zeta_{s_{1}} + \zeta_{s_{2}} + (1 - X_{\alpha_{2}}^{-1})\zeta_{s_{1}s_{2}} + (1 - X_{\alpha_{1}}^{-1})\zeta_{s_{2}s_{1}} + (1 - X_{\alpha_{2}}^{-1})\zeta_{s_{1}s_{2}s_{1}}) \,\mathrm{id} \\ &+ (-\zeta_{\mathrm{id}} + X_{\alpha_{1}}^{-1}\zeta_{s_{1}} - \zeta_{s_{2}} - (1 - X_{\alpha_{1}}^{-1})\zeta_{s_{2}s_{1}} + X_{\alpha_{2}}^{-1}\zeta_{s_{1}s_{2}s_{1}}) \,s_{1} \\ &+ (\zeta_{s_{2}} + X_{\alpha_{1}+\alpha_{2}}^{-1}\zeta_{s_{1}s_{2}} - X_{\alpha_{1}}^{-1}\zeta_{s_{2}s_{1}} - X_{\alpha_{1}+\alpha_{2}}^{-1}\zeta_{s_{1}s_{2}s_{1}}) \,s_{1}s_{2} \\ &+ (-(\zeta_{s_{1}} + \zeta_{s_{2}}) + (1 - X_{\alpha_{1}}^{-1})X_{\alpha_{2}}^{-1}\zeta_{s_{1}s_{2}} + X_{\alpha_{1}}^{-1}\zeta_{s_{2}s_{1}} + X_{\alpha_{1}+\alpha_{2}}^{-1}\zeta_{s_{1}s_{2}s_{1}}) \,s_{1}s_{2}s_{1} \Big). \end{split}$$

The operator \widehat{Y}_{ω_2} is obtained by interchanging the indices 1 and 2 of ω_i , s_i , and α_i in the above formula. The operators \widehat{Y}_{ω_i} are invertible (their inverses are $\widehat{Y}_{-\omega_i}$), and one has

the following special case of Proposition 5.4.1:

$$\widehat{Y}_{\omega_1}^{-1} + \widehat{Y}_{\omega_1}\widehat{Y}_{\omega_2}^{-1} + \widehat{Y}_{\omega_2} = (1 - X_{\alpha_1}^{-1})\Gamma_{\omega_1} + (1 - X_{\alpha_2}^{-1})\Gamma_{-\omega_1 + \omega_2} + \Gamma_{-\omega_2} = RE(L_{\omega_1}),$$

upon the restriction to $\mathcal{F}^{\delta}(W, \overline{\mathcal{V}})$; cf. (0.1).

For the root system B_2 , with α_1 long and α_2 short, the fundamental weight ω_2 is minuscule, while $\omega_1 = \vartheta$ is not. One has

$$\begin{split} \widehat{Y}_{\omega_2} &= \Gamma^{\varrho}_{-\omega_2} \Big((\zeta_{\mathrm{id}} + \zeta_{s_1} + (1 - X_{\alpha_1}^{-1})(\zeta_{s_2s_1} + \zeta_{s_1s_2s_1}) \\ &\quad + (1 - X_{\alpha_2}^{-1})(\zeta_{s_2} + \zeta_{s_1s_2} + \zeta_{s_2s_1s_2} + \zeta_{s_1s_2s_1s_2})) \, \mathrm{id} \\ &\quad + (-(\zeta_{\mathrm{id}} + \zeta_{s_1}) + X_{\alpha_2}^{-1}(\zeta_{s_2} + \zeta_{s_1s_2s_1s_2}) - (1 - X_{\alpha_2}^{-1})\zeta_{s_1s_2} \\ &\quad - (1 - X_{\alpha_1}^{-1})\zeta_{s_1s_2s_1}) \, s_2 \\ &\quad + (\zeta_{s_1} + (1 - X_{\alpha_2}^{-1})\zeta_{s_1s_2} + X_{\alpha_1+\alpha_2}^{-1}\zeta_{s_2s_1} - X_{\alpha_1}^{-1}\zeta_{s_1s_2s_1} \\ &\quad + X_{\alpha_1+\alpha_2}^{-1}(1 - X_{\alpha_2}^{-1})\zeta_{s_2s_1s_2} - X_{\alpha_1+\alpha_2}^{-1}\zeta_{s_1s_2s_1s_2}) \, s_2s_1 \\ &\quad + (-(\zeta_{s_1} + \zeta_{s_2}) - (1 - X_{\alpha_2}^{-1})\zeta_{s_1s_2} + X_{\alpha_1}^{-1}(1 - X_{\alpha_2}^{-1})\zeta_{s_2s_1} \\ &\quad + X_{\alpha_1+2\alpha_2}^{-1}\zeta_{s_2s_1s_2} + X_{\alpha_1}^{-1}(1 - X_{\alpha_1}^{-1})\zeta_{s_2s_1s_2} \\ &\quad + (-(\zeta_{s_1} + \zeta_{s_2s_1}) + X_{\alpha_2}^{-1}\zeta_{s_1s_2} + X_{\alpha_2}^{-1}(1 - X_{\alpha_1}^{-1})\zeta_{s_2s_1s_2} \\ &\quad + X_{\alpha_1+\alpha_2}^{-1}\zeta_{s_1s_2s_1} - X_{\alpha_1+\alpha_2}^{-1}(1 - X_{\alpha_2}^{-1})\zeta_{s_1s_2s_1s_2}) \, s_1s_2s_1 \\ &\quad + (\zeta_{s_1} - X_{\alpha_2}^{-1}\zeta_{s_1s_2} - X_{\alpha_1+\alpha_2}^{-1}\zeta_{s_1s_2s_1} + X_{\alpha_1+2\alpha_2}^{-1}\zeta_{s_1s_2s_1s_2}) \, s_1s_2s_1s_2 \Big). \end{split}$$

References

- [1] A. Borodin and I. Corwin. Macdonald processes. Preprint, arXiv:1111.4408, 2013.
- [2] N. Bourbaki. Lie groups and Lie algebras. Chapters 4–6. Elements of Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2002. Translated from the 1968 French original by Andrew Pressley.
- [3] A. Braverman and M. Finkelberg. Semi-infinite Schubert varieties and quantum Ktheory of flag manifolds. Preprint, arXiv:1111.2266, 2011.
- [4] W. Casselman and J. Shalika. The unramified principal series of p-adic groups. II. The Whittaker function. Compositio Math., 41(2):207–231, 1980.
- [5] I. Cherednik. Double affine Hecke algebras, Knizhnik-Zamolodchikov equations, and Macdonald's operators. *Internat. Math. Res. Notices*, (9):171–180, 1992.
- [6] I. Cherednik. Integration of quantum many-body problems by affine Knizhnik-Zamolodchikov equations. Adv. Math., 106(1):65–95, 1994.
- [7] I. Cherednik. Double affine Hecke algebras and Macdonald's conjectures. Ann. of Math. (2), 141(1):191–216, 1995.
- [8] I. Cherednik. Nonsymmetric Macdonald polynomials. Internat. Math. Res. Notices, (10):483–515, 1995.
- [9] I. Cherednik. Difference Macdonald-Mehta conjecture. Internat. Math. Res. Notices, (10):449–467, 1997.
- [10] I. Cherednik. Intertwining operators of double affine Hecke algebras. Selecta Math. (N.S.), 3(4):459–495, 1997.
- [11] I. Cherednik. Double affine Hecke algebras, volume 319 of London Mathematical Society Lecture Note Series. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2005.
- [12] I. Cherednik. Nonsemisimple Macdonald polynomials. Selecta Math. (N.S.), 14(3-4):427–569, 2009.
- [13] I. Cherednik. Whittaker limits of difference spherical functions. Internat. Math. Res. Notices, (20):3793–3842, 2009.
- [14] I. Cherednik and B. Feigin. Rogers-Ramanujan type identities and Nil-DAHA. Preprint, arXiv:1209.1978, 2012.
- [15] I. Cherednik and X. Ma. Spherical and Whittaker functions via DAHA I, II. Selecta Math. (N.S.), to appear.

- [16] I. Cherednik and D. Orr. One-Dimensional Nil-Daha and Whittaker Functions I. Transform. Groups, 17(4):953–987, 2012.
- [17] I. Cherednik and D. Orr. One-Dimensional Nil-Daha and Whittaker Functions II. Transform. Groups, 18(1):23–59, 2013.
- [18] P. Etingof. Whittaker functions on quantum groups and q-deformed Toda operators. In Differential topology, infinite-dimensional Lie algebras, and applications, volume 194 of Amer. Math. Soc. Transl. Ser. 2, pages 9–25. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1999.
- [19] B. Feigin, E. Feigin, M. Jimbo, T. Miwa, and E. Mukhin. Fermionic formulas for eigenfunctions of the difference Toda Hamiltonian. *Lett. Math. Phys.*, 88(1-3):39–77, 2009.
- [20] A. Gerasimov, D. Lebedev, and S. Oblezin. On q-deformed gl_{l+1}-Whittaker function II. Comm. Math. Phys., 294(1):121–143, 2010.
- [21] A. Gerasimov, D. Lebedev, and S. Oblezin. On q-deformed gl_{l+1}-Whittaker function III. Lett. Math. Phys., 97(1):1–24, 2011.
- [22] A. Givental and Y.-P. Lee. Quantum K-theory on flag manifolds, finite-difference Toda lattices and quantum groups. *Invent. Math.*, 151(1):193–219, 2003.
- [23] R. Goodman and N. R. Wallach. Whittaker vectors and conical vectors. J. Funct. Anal., 39(2):199–279, 1980.
- [24] Harish-Chandra. Spherical functions on a semisimple Lie group. I. Amer. J. Math., 80:241–310, 1958.
- [25] B. Ion. Nonsymmetric Macdonald polynomials and Demazure characters. Duke Math. J., 116(2):299–318, 2003.
- [26] V. G. Kac. Infinite-dimensional Lie algebras. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, third edition, 1990.
- [27] S. Kumar. Demazure character formula in arbitrary Kac-Moody setting. Invent. Math., 89(2):395–423, 1987.
- [28] G. Lusztig. Affine Hecke algebras and their graded version. J. Amer. Math. Soc., 2(3):599–635, 1989.
- [29] I. G. Macdonald. Affine Hecke algebras and orthogonal polynomials. Astérisque, (237):Exp. No. 797, 4, 189–207, 1996. Séminaire Bourbaki, Vol. 1994/95.

- [30] I. G. Macdonald. Affine Hecke algebras and orthogonal polynomials, volume 157 of Cambridge Tracts in Mathematics. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2003.
- [31] E. M. Opdam. Harmonic analysis for certain representations of graded Hecke algebras. Acta Math., 175(1):75–121, 1995.
- [32] S. N. M. Ruijsenaars. Relativistic Toda systems. Comm. Math. Phys., 133(2):217– 247, 1990.
- [33] Y. B. Sanderson. On the connection between Macdonald polynomials and Demazure characters. J. Algebraic Combin., 11(3):269–275, 2000.
- [34] A. Sevostyanov. Quantum deformation of Whittaker modules and the Toda lattice. Duke Math. J., 105(2):211–238, 2000.
- [35] J. Stokman. Difference Fourier transforms for nonreduced root systems. Selecta Math. (N.S.), 9(3):409–494, 2003.
- [36] J. Stokman. The *c*-function expansion of a basic hypergeometric function associated to root systems. Preprint, arXiv:1109.0613, 2012.
- [37] N. R. Wallach. Real reductive groups. II, volume 132 of Pure and Applied Mathematics. Academic Press Inc., Boston, MA, 1992.